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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

To Shareholders:

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), | hereby present
the results of China Energy Development Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Operating Results

During the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “year”) and at
present, the Group has been principally engaged in exploration,
production and distribution of natural gas in the PRC. During the
year, the Group recorded an audited consolidated gross amount
from operations (“revenue”) of approximately HK$300,101,000
(2023: HK$332,034,000), mainly contributed by the production and
distribution of natural gas. During the year, neither the money lending
business segment nor the sales of food and beverages segment
contributed any revenue to the Group (2023: both Nil).

Due to the technical problems incurred in certain gas fields such
as water and slurry blockage during the year, the Group produced
approximately 431.0 million cubic meters of natural gas, representing
a decrease of approximately 9.8% compared with the last year. The
revenue from the production and distribution of natural gas business
for the year was approximately HK$300,101,000, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$31,933,000 or 9.6% compared with
the same period of last year.

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
("EBITDA") decreased from approximately HK$219,443,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$174,027,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2024 by approximately HK$45,416,000
or 20.7% which was in line with the decrease in revenue by
approximately HK$31,933,000 or 9.6% year-on-year.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

FREREEERE T RR I

Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$1,803,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 increased to provision for impairment of property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$9,121,000 inclusive of provision
for impairment of the properties in Hong Kong of approximately
HK$4,788,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 whereas
provision for impairment of intangible assets of approximately
HK$3,330,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 increased
to provision for impairment of intangible assets of approximately
HK$4,554,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. This was the
result of widen up the difference between the recoverable amount
of the cash generating unit ("CGU") of the Kashi Project as at 31
December 2024 and the carrying amount of the CGU of the Kashi
Project as at 31 December 2024. In addition, the fair value of the
properties in Hong Kong fell below the carrying value as at 31
December 2024.

For calculation of the recoverable amount of the CGU of the Kashi
Project, the key quantitative inputs included the current year and
budgeted years’ net profit and cash flows to the Kashi Project and the
pre-tax discount rate of 16.0% for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: 16.8%). The carrying amount of the CGU of the Kashi Project
as at 31 December 2024 of approximately HK$2,040,678,000 which
exceeded the recoverable amount of the CGU of the Kashi Project as
at 31 December 2024 of approximately HK$2,031,791,000 to bring
out the provision for impairment of intangible assets of approximately
HK$4,554,000 and the provision for impairment of property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$4,333,000 respectively.

The impairment assessment as at 31 December 2024 was made by
APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited, an independent third
party valuer (the “valuer”). The methodology, the key general and
specific assumptions on which the valuer had based its determination
of the CGU'’s recoverable amount as at 31 December 2024 were the
same as those adopted for the assessment as at 31 December 2023.

The valuer has also made assessment of the fair value of the properties
in Hong Kong as at 31 December 2024. Provision for impairment of
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$4,788,000 was
made for the variance arisen between the fair value and the carrying
value.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

Increase in other operating expenses by approximately HK$10,457,000
or 103.0% to approximately HK$20,607,000 was mainly due to
duty fee on the gain of transfer of mining rights of approximately
HK$6,825,000.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company decreased by
approximately HK$42,185,000 or 60.7% to approximately
HK$27,344,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. This was also
mainly due to increase in provision for impairment of property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$7,318,000, increase in provision
for impairment of intangible assets of approximately HK$1,224,000,
increase in income tax charge of approximately HK$7,804,000,
increase in staff costs by approximately HK$1,713,000, increase in
other operating expenses of approximately HK$10,457,000 and
increase in fair value loss of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately HK$6,076,000, offset by decrease in
depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$5,706,000
and decrease in finance costs of approximately HK$13,117,000.

Decrease in EBITDA margin by 8.1% year-on-year to 58.0% for the
year ended 31 December 2024 with decrease in net profit margin by
11.8% year-on-year to 8.9% for the year ended 31 December 2024
was mainly due to the above reasons mentioned in decrease in profit
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations

As a result of improved depreciation of Renminbi (“RMB") against
the Hong Kong Dollars ("HKD") during the year ended 31 December
2024, the exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
attributable to owners of the Company decreased from exchange loss
of approximately HK$63,177,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 to exchange loss of approximately HK$50,483,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024. Meanwhile, the exchange differences
on translation of foreign operations attributable to non-controlling
interests also decreased from exchange loss of approximately
HK$465,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 to exchange loss
of approximately HK$325,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Such exchange difference just represented the translation difference
of currency between RMB and the HKD in the presentation of
consolidated financial statements and did not have any significant
impact on the operations of the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

FREREEERE T RR I

Exploration and evaluation assets

The exploration and evaluation assets represented costs directly
associated with exploratory wells (drilling cost and others) that
are capitalised and pending a determination of whether sufficient
guantities of potentially economic gas reserves have been discovered.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors considered
that the exploration and evaluation assets capitalised in the previous
years and utilised for generating revenue in the development stage
should be reclassified as oil properties under Property, Plant and
Equipment.

As mentioned in note 17 to the financial statements on page 132
of this report, during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
did not incur any exploration and evaluation cost (2023: Nil), and
exploration and evaluation assets of approximately HK$256,000 (2023:
Nil) which was transferred to oil properties under Property, Plant and
Equipment. This was the reason why the exploration and evaluation
assets decreased by approximately HK$256,000 year-on-year to Nil as
at 31 December 2024.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represented the
fair value of listed equity securities based on quoted market price
(level 1 fair value measurement) as at 31 December 2024. Decline of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss by approximately
HK$12,475,000 or 45.8% year-on-year to approximately
HK$14,776,000 as at 31 December 2024 was mainly due to disposal
of part of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and poor
market sentiment under the unsteady economic environment during
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

Other payables and accruals

Other payables and accruals represented balances payable to
contractors engaged by the Group to perform exploration, evaluation
and development works on the area designated in the Petroleum
Contract, and the receipt in advance from China National Petroleum
Corporation (“CNPC") as at 31 December 2024. Decrease in other
payables and accruals by approximately HK$15,421,000 or 12.3%
year-on-year to approximately HK$109,620,000 as at 31 December
2024 was mainly due to settlement of payable to contractors of
approximately HK$11,075,000 during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Other borrowings

The other borrowings represented pledged and unsecured borrowings
which were denominated in RMB repayable within a year from the
drawdown date. Other borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB249,341,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$261,808,000) are
repayable before 31 December 2025.

Business Review

Exploration, Production and Distribution of Natural
Gas Segment

The Petroleum Contract

The Company’s indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, China Era Energy
Power Investment (Hong Kong) Limited (“China Era”) entered into a
petroleum contract (the “Petroleum Contract”) with CNPC for the
drilling, exploration, development and production of oil and/or natural
gas within the specified site located in North Kashi Block, Tarim Basin,
Xinjiang, PRC (“Kashi Project”). The Petroleum Contract is for a term
of 30 years commencing 1 June 2009.

Under the Petroleum Contract, China Era shall apply its appropriate
and advanced technology and management expertise and assign
its competent experts to perform exploration, development and
production of oil and/or natural gas within the site. In the event
that any oil field and/or gas field is discovered within the site, the
development and production costs shall be borne by CNPC and China
Era in the proportion of 51% and 49%, respectively.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

FEREEEEEB T RR N

According to the Petroleum Contract, the exploration period covers 6
years. The managements have devoted much of its resources during
the period in exploration and research studies. On 6 December 2017,
China Era and CNPC entered into a supplemental and amendment
agreement to the Petroleum Contract (the “Supplemental
Agreement”) extending the First Phase exploration period to 5
December 2017 and agreeing on the aggregation of the costs
incurred by CNPC between 1 June 2009 and 5 December 2017 with
the pre-contract costs. The costs incurred between 1 June 2009
and 31 December 2015 was in the amount of RMB651,653,000
(mainly including three completed wells, reconstruction of natural gas
processing plant and the operating costs incurred during the period).
In 2018, the cost incurred by CNPC between 1 January 2016 and 31
December 2017 in the amount of approximately RMB94,042,000 was
confirmed. On 20 June 2019, China Era and CNPC entered into a
second supplemental agreement to the Petroleum Contract (the “2nd
Supplemental Agreement”), which agreed the amount of profit
sharing between 2009 and 2017.

The filing of the Overall Development Program (“ODP") was
completed on 8 July 2019, and the development period of the Kashi
Project commenced with effect from 9 July 2019. Following to the
operation of the new gas processing facilities on 1 July 2020, the Joint
Management Committee of North Kashi Block Cooperations Project
resolved that the commercial production stage commenced with
effect from 1 October 2020. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the gas processing facilities were on the right track and no
further documents were entered.

The Status of Gas Sales Agreements

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 28 April 2020,
the Gas Sales Agreements (“GSA") was signed on 27 April 2020. The
terms of the GSA included the quantity of volume commitments, gas
quality, price terms, delivery obligations and delivery point, etc. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the terms of the GSA remained
the same.

Segment Performance

During the year, this operation of Kashi Project together with
the natural gas distribution operation in Karamay, Xinjiang,
contributes revenue of approximately HK$300,101,000 (2023:
approximately HK$332,034,000) and the segment profit before
income tax was approximately HK$87,191,000 (2023: approximately
HK$114,598,000).
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

The results of operations in exploration, production and distribution of
natural gas segment and costs incurred for exploration and evaluation

assets acquisition and exploration activities are shown as below:

Results of operations in exploration, production, and distribution of

natural gas segment

Revenue

Direct cost

Other income

Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment

Provision for impairment of intangible
assets

Provision for impairment of other
receivables

Selling and distribution expenses

Operating expenses

Depreciation

Amortisation of intangible assets

Finance cost

Results of operations before income tax

Natural gas business analysis

Yoz

IEREIDN

H Ay A

M - BE R EERE
B

B EERERE

Hofth & U SR IBR B B

HERDHMAX
REFX

e

BB EH#H
BERA

BRATISIRATAR & 48

Our Group’s principal activities are exploration, development

production and sales of oil natural gas, until the date of issue of
this report, our Group currently has an oil natural gas exploration,
development and production project, Kashi Project and a project
mainly engaged in a business of natural gas pipeline transportation
and sales which is situated in Xinjiang region of the PRC.

The Company’s indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, China Era Energy
Power Investment (Hong Kong) Limited (“China Era”) entered into
a petroleum contract (“Petroleum Contract”) with CNPC for the
exploration, development and production of oil and/or natural gas
within the specified site located in North Kashi Block, Tarim Basin,
Xinjiang, PRC (“Kashi Project”).

TREGERAEEENRR AN

AARYE EERDHEO B2 REEE
AEHREFEEERERBREDEEZ
FRARERZIINT -

ARRENT  LERDHE DB IEEFE

2024 2023
—E-NEF —ECo=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
300,101 332,034
(51,631) (48,367)
4,219 5,262
(4,333) (865)
(4,554) (3,330)
- (1,926)
(25,758) (29,052)
(45,457) (32,094)
(35,814) (43,679)
(22,843) (25,872)
(26,739) (37,513)
87,191 114,598
AARRERE ST
AEETEEKAME HAE L£ERHES

OHAAR  BERAFHRETHYH  A&E
ROIHEA—ERBRRARDE HEREE
HE-RAEBEM—EARRARE BXMIE
ERTLEBNRNUBFER U E
FIBIRA o

ARBZHEZE2EMBE AR PEFRERE
B(EB)BRAR ([HEFNK]) LA H
SETL—MABEEHTEBEEN]) NP
[0 37 98 5 BB K 2 3 R A b [ 38 2 46 TE 30 B B
RRBEREERBE/SIRAR (B4R
Bl -
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

FEREEEEEB T RR N

Since 19 August 2016, the Company owns 51% subsidiary of
Karamay Fuhai Petroleum Chemical Engineering Co., Limited*. This
subsidiary owns 51% interest of 52 f 35K EEMR R AR A A, Such
company’s principal activities are mainly operations of natural gas
pipeline transportation and sales in the neighbour region of Karamay

City, Xinjiang, PRC (“Karamay Project”).

Analysis of business performance for the year ended 31

December 2024

Kashi Project

Revenue

Direct cost

Other income

Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment

Provision for impairment of intangible
assets

Provision for impairment of other
receivables

Selling and distribution expenses

Operating expenses

Depreciation

Amortisation of intangible assets

Finance cost

Results of operations before income tax

N/A Not Applicable 4~ F

Wig

&M

AR

% BERRBAERR

BV EERERR
Rt R ERERE
BERDHEX
BERY

e

EVEESH
BENL

RAGERASERE

* The English names are for identification only

H—ZFBE—RENATNLBERGB AAFH#HE
SRIERE LML TAR AT 51% 2
ZHBARME R I RERRITER AT
51% 2w AR EEEREETEMNER
hISFEFmMLtE ((RABFRER]) 28X
NREBHETEE -

BE-E-_NE+-A=+—HIEFEEX£HK

REDH
Eft1EE
For the year ended ~ For the year ended Increase/
31 December 2024 31 December 2023 (decrease)
BE-F-mE  BECRCZF
TZA=t-BLt +=A=+-HL 8/ ()

HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 %

TEx TET TET BOH
282,771 316,370 (33,593) (10.6)

(41,835) (38,442) 3,393 8.8

4,145 5229 (1,084) (20.7)

(4333) (865) 3,468 400.9

(4,554) (3,330) 1,224 36.8

- (1,926) (1,926) N/A

(25,758) (29,052) (3,294) (11.3)

(40,166) (28,691) 11,475 40.0

(32,646) (40,534) (7,888) (19.5)

(22,843) (25,872) (3,029) (1.7

(26,739) (37,513) (10,774) (28.7)

88,048 115,374 (27,326) (23.7)
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

Decrease in revenue

Revenue in 2024 decreased by approximately HK$33,593,000 or
10.6% year-on-year to approximately HK$282,777,000. This was
mainly due to technical problems incurred in certain gas fields during
the year of which the gas production decreased by approximately
9.8% to approximately 431.0 million cubic meters of natural gas as
compared with the same period of 2023.

Increase in direct cost

Direct cost increased by approximately HK$3,393,000 or 8.8% to
approximately HK$41,835,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024
because the work volume on repair and maintenance of oil gas fields
and facilities in 2024 were more than the work volume in 2023.

Increase in provision of impairments

As a result of widening up the difference between the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit (“CGU") of the Kashi project as
at 31 December 2024 and the carrying amount of the CGU of the
Kashi project as at 31 December 2024, the provision for impairment
of property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$4,333,000
(2023: provision for impairment of approximately HK$865,000) and
the provision for impairment of intangible assets of approximately
HK$4,554,000 (2023: provision for impairment of approximately
HK$3,330,000) was arisen for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Increase in operating expenses

Increase in operating expenses by approximately HK$11,475,000
or 40.0% to approximately HK$40,166,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024 because higher office and administration expenses in
2024 when compared with 2023.

FRBEEEEEFRR DT

ZE T YF U IR F R A 4933,593,000%8 7T
5 10.6% = #)282,777,000/87C  TEREHAZ
BT RH R ANFE IR A BB KRR e
BE AEEFRARAARREER T -=F
R A 4)9.8% #4310 BB 7K »

EHEZEKAIE I

BE-_EZE-_NWE+-_A=+—RALFE-
B K AN 149 3,393,000 7T 508.8% = 49
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AR X4,333,00008 T (ZE -=F :
B % 49865,0008 L) MEZE T =M
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3,330,000 7T) °
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

FREREEERE T RR I

Decrease in finance cost

Finance cost in 2024 decreased by approximately HK$10,774,000
or 28.7% year-on-year to approximately HK$26,739,000. This was
mainly due to repayment of the borrowing made in 2024 and thus
decrease the yearly average balance of other borrowings year-on-year.

Decrease in operating profit before income tax

Operating profit before income tax in 2024 decreased by
approximately HK$27,326,000 or 23.7% year-on-year to
approximately HK$88,048,000. This was mainly due to decrease in
revenue, increase in provision for impairment of property, plant and
equipment and provision for impairment of intangible assets.

& AR

_7_mimﬁaﬁﬁm&&%ﬁd%ﬁmwmoo
BTk 28.7% E #926,739,0008 0 - £ B
AR - E-_MEREEEE \@(EWEW;
BEEFHHBRBERZRFRD -

P P 73 10 BT AS 2 28 T 8t 2

“EMFERBHAIKEERMNEFERDH
27,326,000 7T 3% 23.7% % #788,048,000 /&
T EBRARFRKERD  ME - BE
K A i S AR A B 2 B RN

Karamay Project RUKMFEAR
For the year ended For the year ended Increase/
31 December 2024 31 December 2023 (decrease)
BE-R-RF BE-B-CZE
+ZA=t-ALt +=A=+-AL 2/ (8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 %
FEn FET FET A
Revenue ey 17,324 15,664 1,660 10.6
Direct cost BEKA (9,796) (9,925) (129) 13)
Other income Hil A 74 33 41 124.2
Operating expenses BERX (5,291) (3,403) 1,888 55.5
Depreciation e (3.168) (3,145) 23 07
Results of operations before income tax BrFTSTAIE L 25 (857) (776) 81 104
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

Increase in revenue

The gas pipeline transportation and sales were relatively steady
over the couple of years. Revenue increased by approximately
HK$1,660,000 by 10.6% to approximately HK$17,324,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Increase in operating expenses

Operating expenses increased by approximately HK$1,888,000
or 55.5% to approximately HK$5,291,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024 because higher office and administration expenses in
2024 when compared with 2023.

Decrease in results of operations before income tax

Decrease in results of operations before income tax to loss of
approximately HK$857,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024
was mainly due to increase in operating cost for the year.

Sales of Food and Beverages Business

The Group did not record any revenue from the sales of food and
beverages business segment in 2024 and 2023. The segment loss
before tax was approximately HK$141,000 (2023: approximately
HK$410,000). No revenue was recorded during the year, mainly
due to the Group’s intention to reduce reliance on sales of food
and beverage. We will continue to keep track of the economic
environment and review the future allocation of resource as and
when required.

FRBEEEEEFRR DT
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

FREREEERE T RR I

Money Lending Business

The Group did not generate any revenue in 2024 and 2023 from
the money lending business operated by its indirect wholly owned
subsidiary, Zhong Neng Finance Ltd., a licensed money lender under
the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap.163, Laws of Hong Kong). The
segment loss before tax was approximately HK$168,000 (2023:
approximately HK$209,000). The Group continued to adopt a
stringent credit policy to mitigate the credit risk arising from the
money lending business.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated by the net debt (total debt net of cash and
cash equivalents) divided by total equity. The gearing ratio based on
the audited financial information is approximately 24.9% at 30 June
2024 (31 December 2023: approximately 34.0% based on audited
financial information).

Financial Review
Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has outstanding secured and
unsecured other borrowings of approximately HK$203,700,000 and
HK$58,108,000 respectively (2023: approximately HK$353,160,000
and Nil respectively). The cash and cash equivalents of the Group
were approximately HK$34,346,000 (2023: approximately
HK$45,203,000). The Group’s current ratio (current assets to current
liabilities) was approximately 44.7% (2023: 47.9%). The ratio of total
liabilities to total assets of the Group was approximately 21.1% (2023:
26.8%).

As at 31 December 2024, the convertible notes due in 2041 has an
outstanding principal amount of HK$232,790,000. These convertible
notes do not carry any interest, but carry the right to convert the
principal amount into ordinary shares of the Company. The conversion
price is HK$0.168 per share (subject to adjustments) and a maximum
number of 1,385,654,761 shares may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of the conversion rights attached to the convertible notes
in full. During the year ended 31 December 2024, convertible notes
with principal amount of HK$446,880,000 have been converted into
ordinary shares (2023: Nil).
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

Charge of Assets

Account receivables in the amount of HK$113,397,000 were pledged
as security for other borrowings as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$48,302,000). In addition, the rights of natural gas sharing amount
and sales revenue under the product sharing agreement and the sales
agreement were pledged as security for other borrowings as at 31
December 2024 (2023: same pledge as at 31 December 2024).

Exchange Exposure

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and the
exposure in exchange rate risks mainly arises from fluctuations in the
HK dollar and Renminbi exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations
and market trends have always been the concern of the Group.
The policy of the Group for its operating entities operates in their
corresponding local currencies to minimise currency risks. The Group,
after reviewing its exposure for the time being, did not enter into
any derivative contracts aimed at minimising exchange rate risks
during the year. However, management will monitor foreign currency
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure if necessary.

Capital Commitments

The Group had capital commitments of approximately HK$470,000 (of
which approximately HK$240,000 would be borne by CNPC) (2023:
approximately HK$1,945,000 of which approximately HK$1,001,000
would be borne by CNPC) and approximately HK$110,198,000 (2023:
approximately HK$113,346,000) as at 31 December 2024 in respect
of capital expenditure of exploration, production and distribution
of natural gas segment and capital contributions in a subsidiary
respectively.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

FREREEERE T RR I

Employee and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 54 full-time and
part-time staff members (2023: 43). Staff costs during the year
ended 31 December 2024, including Directors’ emoluments, totalled
approximately HK$19,930,000 (2023: approximately HK$18,217,000).
In order to enhance the morale and productivity of employees,
employees are remunerated based on their performance, experience
and prevailing industry practices. Compensation policies and packages
of management staff and functional heads are being reviewed on
a yearly basis. In addition to basic salary, performance related salary
may also be awarded to employees based on internal performance
evaluation. The Group also invests in continuing education and
training programmes for management staff and other employees with
a view to upgrade their skills and knowledge. These training courses
comprise internal courses run by the management of the Group and
external courses provided by professional trainers and range from
technical and safety training for the natural gas field workers to
financial and administrative trainings for management staff.

Going Concern Basis

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$223,996,000. This condition
indicates the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and therefore, the Group may not be able to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Our auditor’s
opinion includes an emphasis of matter on going concern, without
qualification.

The Group’s current liabilities as at 31 December 2024 are mainly
attributable to property, plant and equipment/exploration and
evaluation cost payables amounting to approximately HK$66,181,000
(31 December 2023: approximately HK$77,256,000), and other
borrowings in the amount of approximately HK$261,808,000 (31
December 2023: approximately HK$143,640,000). The Directors
of the Company are of the view that the Group will be able to
successfully persuade these contractors not to insist on demanding
repayment in the PRC. However, there is no certainty that the
contractors will not demand repayment.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

In view of the net current liabilities position, the Directors have carried
out a detailed review of the cash flow forecast of the Group covering
a period of not less than twelve months from the end of the reporting
period based on certain “underlying assumptions including (i) Xinjiang
Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd ("XTRQ"), the single largest substantial
shareholder expressed willingness to provide financial support in case
the Company is unable to meet all the obligations; (ii) the Group
being able to successfully persuade these contractors not to insist on
demanding repayment of the construction cost payables in the PRC;
and (iii) the Group being able to raise adequate funding through bank
borrowings or otherwise. Taking into account the above assumptions,
the Directors of the Company consider that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the twelve months from 31 December 2024. The
Directors will continue to negotiate with banks and other financiers,
financial institutions and potentially interested investors with the view
to obtaining new funding whether by way of equity or debt financing
to improve the Company’s financial position and/or liquidity, with the
objective of removing the emphasis of matter on going concern.

The Audit Committee’s view

During the audit process, the Audit Committee discussed with
the management during which the management presented the
financial highlights and conveyed the key audit matters expressed by
the auditors. After considering the circumstances surrounding the
key audit matters and the management’s presentation, the Audit
Committee concurred with the management’s judgments regarding
the going concern basis of the financial statements.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

FREREEERE T RR I

PROSPECTS

Exploration, Production and Distribution of Natural
Gas

The project details and key milestones for the Kashi Project were
disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 3 December 2010. In
essence, the Petroleum Contract covers an exploration period of up
to six years (which was already extended by CNPC pursuant to the
Supplemental Contract), a development period and a production
period. The development period commences on the date after
the date of filing completion of the ODP and ends on the date of
the completion of the development operations required by the
ODP to be completed during the development period. The end of
the development period also signifies the commencement of the
commercial production of the project and hence the production
period, which runs for fifteen years for an oil field and twenty
years for a gas field (subject to extension with the approval of the
government).

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 25 July 2019, the
filing of the ODP of Kashi Project was completed on 8 July 2019 and
the development period commenced with effect from 9 July 2019. As
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 28 April 2020, the
GSA was signed on 27 April 2020. Following to the operation of the
new gas processing facilities on 1 July 2020, the Joint Management
Committee of North Kashi Block Cooperations Project resolved that
the commercial production stage commenced with effect from 1
October 2020.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 30 September
2021, in the second half of 2021, further new production wells
commenced operation or construction at the Akemomu Gas Field,
including: (1) the commencement of operation of a new well, WD-1,
which was originally designed as an exploratory well and was turned
into a production well due to its production of commercial gas flow; (2)
the completion of drilling of a new production well, AK1-H8, which
is a horizontal well, currently in the operation since the first quarter
of 2022; and (3) the commencement of drilling of a new production
well, AK4-1, which is a vertical well, and is now on operation since
the first quarter of 2022.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

The Company’s management will continue to follow up with potential
lenders and investors with the view to secure additional debt and/
or equity funding to finance the further development of the project.
Further announcement(s) will be made by the Company as and when
there is any significant progress of the Kashi Project.

Sales of Food and Beverages Business

The management has taken a cautious approach to manage the
operations of the food and beverages segment. The Group will assess
the value and performance of this segment from time to time, and
continue to keep track of the economic environment and review the
future allocation of resources as and when required.

Money Lending Business

The management will continue to look for high quality borrowers in
order to minimise the risk of default. The management has taken a
cautious approach in money lending business in view of the Group’s
current financial position.

APPRECIATION

Looking forward, we will continue our existing strategy of fostering
opportunity for sustainable growth with the aim of enhancing return
for our shareholders. Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to
take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our team of
devoted staff and the independent third party professionals for their
outstanding services and to our shareholders, customers, contractors,
bankers, creditors and investors for your continued support.

Liu Wenxuan
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEAEZRE

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Wenxuan (“WX Liu”), aged 38, was appointed as the
Chairman of the Board and an executive Director on 19 July 2024.
Mr. WX Liu has also been appointed as a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 19 July
2024 and chairman of the Nomination Committee on 20 December
2024 respectively. Mr. WX Liu holds a master degree in finance
from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics and a non-
practising membership of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, from July 2012 to June
2024, Mr. WX Liu worked in the investment banking division of Cinda
Securities Co., Ltd. as the senior manager, vice president, senior vice
president, business Director, and an underwriting representative of
the Securities Association of China.

Mr. Liu Dong (“Mr. Liu”), aged 50, was appointed as an executive
Director, Chief Executive Officer (“CEO") and an Authorised
Representative of the Company with effect from 30 April 2024. Mr.
Liu Dong has also been appointed as a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 19 July
2024. Mr. Liu holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting from the
Shaanxi University of Science and Technology in Xi’An, the PRC. He
started his job since July 1997. He had been Deputy Head of
Investment Management Department of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas
Co., Ltd. (“XTRQ"). He currently holds the position of Head of Office
and the Secretary to the Board of XTRQ. From September 2012 to July
2016, he had worked as an Assistant to General Manager of Xinjian
Xintou Jingmao Development Co., Ltd.* (FTBFIZEZEERER A
Al) who is responsible for investment management and internal
control. Mr. Liu has obtained Assistant Accountant Qualification
Certificate as well as the qualification certificate of board secretary
issued by the Shanghai Stock Exchange in June 2019.

*  For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yan Danhua (“Mr. Yan"), aged 57, was appointed as the non-
executive Director of the Company and as a member of the Audit
Committee on 19 July 2024. Mr. Yan holds a bachelor’s degree in
economics from Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (BX 74 B
#EE2PT) (currently known as Xi‘an Jiao Tong University of China (#F
BlPE 2 B AR E)).

Mr. Yan has more than 20 years of strategic investment and operation
management experience in the energy industry. Mr. Yan holds the
position of a director and the senior vice president of Xinjiang Xintai
Natural Gas Co., Ltd.* (FTBEHRTRXARBKMHBER R F]), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603393) and a
substantial shareholder of the Company XTRQ from July 2023 to now.
Mr. Yan has been appointed as an executive Director and the
president of AAG Energy Holdings Limited (58 =88R A R A A)
(Previous Stock Code: 2686 and its listing status was voluntarily
withdrawn on the Stock Exchange in July 2023 due to privatisation of
the company, now a wholly-owned subsidiary of XTRQ). Mr. Yan was
responsible for managing the energy investment projects of China
AVIC Trust Co., Ltd. (R {5 #ER {0 B IR A 7)) from 2016 to 2018. In
2015, Mr. Yan was the deputy general manager of Guangzheng
Group Co., Ltd. CGEIEEBE XM AR A F]), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002524), and was responsible
for the business of natural gas and new energy development. From
2007 to 2013, he worked as the office Director of balanced scorecard
department for Xinjiang Guanghui Industry Investment Group Co.,
Ltd. (rEEREEEXEE(EE)EREERF) and as the deputy
general manager for Guanghui Energy Co., Ltd. (EE &R AR
‘A |]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 600256), respectively. In Guanghui Energy Co., Ltd., he was
responsible for strategic planning, operation management, natural
gas project management and the development of conventional gas
and oil. From 1999 to 2006, Mr. Yan worked as the general manager
at the department of fruit business of Xinjiang Tunhe Co., Ltd. (¥7&
oA B 19 B BR A 7)) (currently known as COFCO Tunhe Sugar Co.,
Ltd. (Fh @ m #E 2 A% 15 B R A 7)), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600737)).

*  For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEAEZRE

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chen Jianxin ("Mr. Chen"), aged 53, was appointed as the
non-executive Director of the Company and as a member of the Audit
Committee on 19 July 2024. Mr. Chen graduated from the
Communist Party Xinjiang Regiment Committee Party Institution (4
H¥sE KB ZE B ERK) with a major in accounting and finance by
correspondence. He also obtained a qualification certificate of
specialty and technology issued by Ministry of Personnel People’s
Republic of China for his professional qualification of intermediate
level in accounting. Mr. Chen worked in various positions in XTRQ)
and its subsidiaries since 2002, including (i) general manager in
Migquan Xintai Gas Company Limited* CKEMERRRBRELT A
A]) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of XTRQ); (ii) general manager in
Xinjiang Xintai Compressed Natural Gas Co., Ltd.* (T8 FEMHE KX
SRR AR S ERQF) (@ wholly-owned subsidiary of XTRQ); and (iii)
currently being the deputy general manager and finance Director of
XTRQ.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Zhenming (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 79, is experienced in
the energy industry in China and has served as the Deputy Director
of Economics and Technology Research Institute of China National
Petroleum Corporation, and the Chairman of the Energy Commission
of the China Information Industry Association of the National
Development and Reform Commission. Mr. Zhang was an executive
Director of the Company between 9 June 2010 and 27 November
2014.

*  For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Lee Man Tai (“"Mr. Lee”), aged 48, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director in January 2016 and has been
appointed as chairman of Remuneration Committee on 20 December
2024. He graduated from Lingnan University, Hong Kong in 2000
with a bachelor’s degree in business administration and obtained
a master’'s degree in business administration in financial services
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2010. He is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom. He has approximately 20 years
of professional experience in accounting and auditing. He worked in
audit firms between 2000 and 2006, and has occupied the positions
of chief financial officer, financial controller and company secretary of
several listed companies in Hong Kong between 2006 and 2016. He
is an independent non-executive Director of Progressive Path Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1581) and Rizhao Port Jurong Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 6117), which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He
was appointed as the chief financial officer and company secretary
of China New Consumption Group Limited (formerly known as
State Innovation Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8275) since June 2021 and August
2021, respectively. He is also a responsible officer for types 1 and
6 regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEAEZRE

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Chin Ying Ying (“Ms. Chin"), aged 38, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 20 December 2024. Ms. Chin graduated
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2009 with a Bachelor
degree of Business Administration in Accountancy with First-class
Honours. She is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a Certified Internal Auditor of The
Institute of Internal Auditors. She is also a Certified Environmental,
Social and Governance Analyst awarded by the European Federation
of Financial Analyst Societies. Ms. Chin has more than 15 years
experiences in accounting, internal audit and corporate secretarial
related matters. She has been a Director of PBP Limited (A {578 %%
BT A A, a licensed Trust or Company Service Provider (TCSP),
since June 2023. She is also the company secretary of DL Holdings
Group Limited ({E#E &&= E B R A ) (stock code: 1709), Summi
(Group) Holdings Limited (F E (£ E)IERER A ) (stock code:
756) and Solis Holdings Limited (5F z 1% i% & R A &) (stock code:
2227). Ms. Chin worked in Roma (meta) Group L|m|ted (BB (T
BH)E B AR AR (stock code: 8072) as the head of strategy and
corporate planning and internal auditor from November 2021 to
March 2023 and February 2017 to October 2021 respectively.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Senior Management

Mr. Siu Kai Chun (with former name Siu Kwok Yee) (“Mr. Siu”)
was appointed as the Company Secretary and an Authorised
Representative of the Company on 30 June 2022. Mr. Siu, aged
56, joined the Company in December 2021 as the chief financial
officer. Mr. Siu has over 20 years of experience in auditing, finance
and accounting and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Siu graduated from the
City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in business
studies, completed the executive master of business administration
programme at Lingnan (University) College, Sun Yat-sen University,
Guangzhou, China and obtained the master of science degree in
Finance from the University College Dublin, The National University of
Ireland.

Ms. Feng Huiyuan (“Ms. Feng”), aged 37, joined the Company as
Vice President on 16 September 2024. Ms. Feng graduated from
Xinjiang Normal University with a bachelor’s degree in Musicology in
2010 and obtained a master’s degree in business administration
(executive) and a doctorate degree of business administration from
The City University of Hong Kong in 2021 and 2025 respectively. She
is currently working as Chief Executive Officer at Whalley Technology
Limited since December 2022 and Vice President at Beijing Yitang
Mudan Electronic Engineering Co., Ltd.* It REFEH A E T LIEA
fR 2 |] since July 2018. She worked as Assistant General Manager at
Xinjiang Xinrongshen Investment Co., Ltd.* ¥Ti@ & MA K EBR R
a] from April 2013 to June 2018. She worked as Head of Exhibition
Affairs Department at Xinjiang China Eurasia Expo Secretariat* ¥ 58
B8 E g E 5 from August 2010 to March 2013,

*  For identification purposes only
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Corporate Governance Report
EERERHE

Overview

The Company is committed to maintain good corporate governance
standard and procedures. The Board recognizes the importance of and
benefit from good corporate governance practices. We believe that
improvement in corporate governance not only assists the Company
in effective supervision and control on its business operation, but also
attracts investment from international institutional investors, thereby
creating and enhancing shareholder value.

1.

28

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to maintain good corporate
governance standard and procedures. The Stock Exchange has
promulgated the code provisions under Part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
(the “CG Code”) and the applicable Main Board Listing Rules.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the
CG Code with the applicable Main Board Listing Rules except
for the following:

(a)

In relation to Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and Chief Executive Officer (the “CEQ")
should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual and the division of responsibilities
between the chairman and CEO should be clearly
established and set out in writing. During the Reporting
Period from 1 January 2024 to 30 April 2024, Mr. Zhao
Guogiang (“Mr. Zhao") was the executive Director who
performed certain functions of chairman and the CEO of
the Company until resigned on 30 April 2024 and Mr. Liu
has been taking the position of the CEO since 30 April
2024. Prior to 19 July 2024, the position of chairman
of the Board was vacant. Upon 19 July 2024, Mr. Liu
Wenxuan was appointed as the chairman of the Board.

The Group deviates from this Code Provision because
the positions of executive Director and CEO of the
Group were held by Mr. Zhao, who took up the roles
since a very substantial acquisition in December 2009
and has extensive experience in the industry. The Board
believes that Mr. Zhao provided the Group with strong
and consistent leadership that allowed for effective
and efficient planning and implementation of business
decisions and strategies. The Board also considers that
the structure of vesting the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person would not impair the
balance of power and authority between the Board and
the management of the Group. The Board shall review
this structure from time to time to ensure appropriate and
timely action to meet changing circumstances.
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Corporate Governance Report

In relation to Code Provision F.2.2 of the CG Code,
the chairman of the Board should attend the annual
general meeting to answer questions raised up in the
meeting. As the position of chairman was vacant when
the annual general meeting of the Company was held
on 28 June 2024, Mr. Lee Man Tai, the chairman of the
Audit Committee and an independent non-executive
Director, was elected by the Directors present at the
meeting to preside over the meeting. At the same time,
other Directors and members of the Audit Committee
were present at the meeting to answer questions from
Shareholders. On 19 July 2024, Mr. Liu Wenxuan was
appointed as chairman of the Board.

In relation to Code Provisions B.2.2 of the CG Code,
every Director including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. According to article 61(1)(c) of
the articles of association of the Company, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
Director shall hold office only until the next general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election at the meeting. During the Reporting Period,
all remaining independent non-executive Directors of
the Company have not been appointed for a specific
term but they are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association.
The management experience, expertise and commitment
of the re-electing Directors will be considered by the
nomination committee of the Company before their re-
election proposals are put forward to Shareholders. As
such, the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices regarding Directors’ appointment
are no less exacting than those in the CG Code.
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30

In relation to Code Provision C.5.1 of the CG Code,
the board should meet regularly and board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. In relation to Code Provision D.1.2 of
the CG Code, management should provide all members
of the board with monthly updates on the issuer’s
performance, position and prospects, which may include
budgets, forecasts, monthly management accounts and
material variance between the projections and actual
results. During the Reporting Period, although regular
Board meetings were held only on half-yearly basis and
management accounts were not circulated to Board
members on monthly basis, regular verbal updates
were given by the management to the Directors on
working level meetings from time to time, which the
Directors consider to be sufficient and appropriate in
the circumstances to enable them to form a balanced
and understandable assessment of the Company'’s
performance and to discharge their duties.

With respect to Code Provision D.2.5 of the CG Code,
an issuer should have an internal audit function and
issuers without an internal audit function should review
the need for one on an annual basis and should disclose
the reasons for the absence of such a function in the
Corporate Governance Report. Due to the nature, size
and scale of operations and as a matter of cost-control
measures, the Group did not have internal audit function
during the Reporting Period. However, the Company will
carry out review on the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group to assess the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems.

With respect to revised Main Board Listing Rule 13.92,
the nomination committee (or the board) shall have
a policy concerning diversity of board members, and
shall disclose the policy on diversity or a summary of
the policy in the corporate governance report. Board
diversity differs according to the circumstances of each
issuer. While diversity of board members can be achieved
through consideration of a number of factors (including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, or professional experience), the Exchange
will not consider diversity to be achieved for a single
gender board. During the Reporting Period, the Board
has appointed Ms. Chin as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 20 December 2024.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
for the Group to safeguard investments of the shareholders
and assets of the Company at all times. Such systems aim to
help achieving the Group’s business objectives, safeguarding
assets and maintaining proper accounting records for provision
of reliable financial information. However, the design of the
systems is to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement in the financial statements or loss
of assets and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure
when business objectives are being sought.

Management has conducted regular reviews during the year on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems covering all material controls in area of financial,
operational and compliance controls, various functions for
risks management as well as physical and information systems
security. The chief financial officer (the “CFO") has reported
to the audit committee from time to time during the year,
in conjunction with key findings identified by the external
auditors, findings and actions or measures taken in addressing
those internal controls. The audit committee in turn reports
any material issues to the Board. The Board, through the audit
committee, also sets targets for and reviews plan and progress
on continuous improvement work of the Company’s internal
control system with the CFO on a periodic basis.

No material deviation in the compliance guidance on risk
management and internal controls by the subsidiaries was
reported, and all subsidiaries have complied with the relevant
laws and industry regulations in respect of financial reporting
and legal compliance. No material non-compliance of rules or
material litigation risk (including ESG risks) was reported, nor
was there any fraud or corruption issue. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company has collected information and
carried out investigations in respect of risk management and
internal control issues for its subsidiaries. Key risk (including ESG
risks) elements affecting the Group and contingency measures
adopted were reported to the Audit Committee. In addition, the
Board and the Audit Committee considered that the resources
allocated, staff qualifications and experience in respect of the
accounting and financial reporting functions of the Company,
the ESG performance of the Group as well as training programs
and budget were adequate and sufficient. The Company will
continue to improve its risk management and internal control
systems to ensure that they remain effective.

2.
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Polices and Systems
Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has a Whistleblowing Policy with the aim to
establish procedures and arrangements for whistleblower(s) to
report in confidence. Whistleblowers, including employees and
other persons who conduct business with the Group (such as
customers and suppliers), may report to the Audit Committee,
either anonymously or by name, any possible misconducts in
relation to the Group so that the Company can take appropriate
action to rectify any related acts and improve corporate
governance standards.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Company has an Anti-corruption Policy in place, and it is
clearly stated in the Company’s staff manual that employees
must strictly comply with the relevant conduct guidelines therein
and must not contravene the provisions of the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance under the laws of Hong Kong.

Information Disclosure

The Company established its own Inside Information Disclosure
Policy to convey the principles and reporting requirements by
all of its subsidiaries with a view to maintain good corporate
governance within the Group and to ensure due disclosure
of corporate information as well as to enhance corporate
transparency. At present, the Group releases business
development information in a timely manner through different
channels, including the publication of annual and interim reports
and business results, sending of circulars to Shareholders, and
disclosing latest developments through the announcements
published on the Stock Exchange and the Company’s websites.
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3. Board of Directors

(a)

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
a total of seven members including two executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. Members of the
Board have different professional and relevant industry
experiences and background so as to bring in valuable
contribution and advice for the development of the
Group's business. Up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has three independent non-executive Directors
representing not less than one-third of the Board, and
three of them are qualified accountants in compliance
with Rule 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each incumbent independent non-executive
director of their independence to the Group. The Group
considered that all independent non-executive directors
meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with
the terms of the guidelines. The names of the directors
and their respective biographies are set out on pages 22
to 26 of this annual report.
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The Board meets periodically with the management to
discuss the Group’s strategies development and to review
the business operation. The Board also monitors and
controls financial performance in pursuit of the Group’s
strategic objectives. The names of the directors during the
financial year and their individual attendance of meetings
are set out below:

Name Board
o gzg
Mr. Liu Wenxuan? S e 3B
Mr. Liu Dong? AREE? 444
Mr. Zhao Guogjang' HElS 4 10
Mr. Yan Danhug’ BERES 33
Mr. Chen Jianxin? BREMLE? 3B
Mr. Zhang Zhenming RIEHALE 6/6
Mr. Cheng Chun Ying* BRERE: 5/5
Mr. Lee Man Tai BNREE 6/6
Ms. Chin Ying Ying* BRRLt: N/A
Notes:

N/A Not Applicable

1. Mr. Zhao Guogiang resigned on 30 April 2024.
2. Mr. Liu Dong was appointed on 30 April 2024.
3. Mr. Liu Wenxuan, Mr. Yan Danhua and Mr. Chen Jianxin were

appointed on 19 July 2024.

4. Mr. Cheng Chun Ying resigned on 20 December 2024 whereas
Ms. Chin Ying Ying was appointed on the same date.

EXeTHEEEEEE  TW
R 7 RS R R AR A K&
F-BEEQ@NEEREEAKH
FEBREIE B IR 2RI -
AMBRFRE 2 ESHRREMER
GHROFERLT

Attendance/number of meetings entitle to attend

HERE/ ARLEZESHE
Annual/
Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination General
Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting
RREE/
ENZEE HMZEE REZEE BHAE
N/A 1 1 N/A
N/A 20 20 n
N/A N/A N/A N/A
22 N/A N/A N/A
22 N/A N/A N/A
33 4/4 44 n
33 33 33 n
33 44 44 n
N/A N/A N/A N/A
B 5
NA - A
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The Board members have no financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships with each other.
Each of the independent non-executive Directors have
confirmed in writing their independence from the
Company in accordance with the guidelines on director
independence of the Listing Rules. On this basis, the
Company considers all such Directors to be independent.

The Board oversees the Group’s strategic development
and determines the objectives, strategies and policies of
the Group.

The major issues which were brought before the Board for
their decisions during the year include: (i) proposals related
to potential acquisition, investments, or any significant
capital expenditures; and (ii) formulation of operational
strategies and review of its financial performance and
results and the internal control system.

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that the
Company maintains sound and effective internal controls
to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the
Company’s assets.

The Company has set up three Board committees, namely,
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee, to oversee particular aspect
of the Group’s affairs, details of which are set out in the
relevant sections below.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management and
operations of the Group’s businesses to management of
the Group. Major corporate matters that are specifically
delegated by the Board to the management include the
preparation of financial statements for Board approval
before publishing, execution of business strategies
and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation
of adequate systems of internal controls and risk
management procedures, and compliance with relevant
statutory requirements and rules and regulations.
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When the Board delegates aspects of its management
and administration functions to management, it has
given clear directions as to the powers of management,
in particular, with respect to the circumstance where
management shall report back and obtain prior approval
from the Board before making decisions or entering into
any commitments on behalf of the Company.

In relation to the CG Code, all Directors have participated
their own professional training by attending seminar/
programme/reading relevant materials in relation to the
business on directors’ duties.

In compliance with B(i) of Part 1 of Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rule, all the following Directors have participated
in training by attending seminars, programmes, and/or
reading materials during the year.

() MEEFSREEEREEERER
THBE EFECREEREZ
BAELBEW RS ETEBE
BEAMEESFELER UK
EREERRAQRRFELIREX
RINEMAKENARSEES S
SHUEZ TN

k) REEXEBTA IEEERE
HHEMSE RE/HEEHW
EEMEBBREAEEN 28
HBE W EEE -

AT LT RDIFT S C1 #8015 BA) 15
A THREEENFANEEBLERNE
RERHBEM ST A2 EE -

Yes/No
(If No, state
reasons)
2/85(WmaE
Name and role of the Director BEEEFTREBMN HARRA)
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Liu Wenxuan (Chairman of the Board) BB EE (BEFEEE) Yes 2
Mr. Liu Dong (Chief Executive Officer) RIS A (7T AAE) Yes =&
Mr. Zhao Guogiang (ex-Chief Executive Officer) B R S A (AT AR ) Yes =2
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Yan Danhau B FYEE SR A Yes &
Mr. Chen Jianxin PREEFT LA Yes &
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFBITES
Mr. Lee Man Tai ENHREAE Yes ;&
Mr. Cheng Chun Ying B IR E 2 A4 Yes 2
Mr. Zhang Zhenming SR IR AR LA Yes &
Ms. Chin Ying Ying BARRTT Yes &
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The Company has attached much importance to the risk
management about directors’ liabilities and has arranged
appropriate liability insurance for Directors and senior
management of the Company. The insurance coverage is
reviewed on an annual basis.
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In compliance with B(ha) of Part 1 of Appendix C1 of
the Listing Rule, the Directors appointed during the year,
namely Mr. Liu Dong, Mr. Liu Wenxuan, Mr. Yan Danhua,
Mr. Chen Jianxin and Ms. Chin Ying Ying had obtained
legal advice from P. C. Woo & Co., our Hong Kong legal
advisor and understood their obligations as a Director of a
listed issuer.

Board Independence

In compliance with B.1.4 of Part 2 of Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rule, the Company is committed to maintaining
the independence of the Board and regularly reviews the
implementation of its policies to constantly enhance its
effectiveness.

Currently, there are three Independent Non-Executive
Directors among the seven Directors of the Company,
which meets the requirement of having at least one-third
of all Board members under the Listing Rules. During the
year, each Independent Non-Executive Director is required
to issue a letter of confirmation to the Company regarding
his/her independence. The Nomination Committee of
the Company also reviews the independence of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors in its annual review
of the structure, size and composition of the Board.

None of the Independent Non-Executive Directors
currently holds any Shares. No equity-based remuneration
with performance-related elements is paid to the
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The fees paid by
the Company to the Independent Non-Executive Directors
are determined by reference to the industry benchmark
which will be approved by the Shareholders at the
annual general meetings authorizing the Board (through
its Remuneration Committee) to review the same from
time to time. In this Annual Report, the Company has
disclosed that there is no material relationship between
the Board members in terms of financial, business and
family matters. At the same time, each Director is required
to disclose to the Company annually the positions he/she
holds in public companies which are listed in Hong Kong
or overseas as well as other major appointments so that
the Company can assess the time he/she can devote to
his/her duties as a Director.
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EXELRRE

At Board meetings, each Director is required to declare
his/her interest, if any, in matters to be considered by
the Board. The Independent Non-Executive Directors
have many years of experience in corporate finance
and management expertise and can make independent
judgements and give constructive advice on the affairs
of the Company. The Company will reimburse the
Directors for any reasonable expenses incurred by them
in the conduct of the business of the Company or in
the discharge of their duties as Directors or for any
professional consultation required. During the year, when
a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict
of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
at board meetings which the Board has determined to
be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical
meeting. Directors who, and whose close associates,
have material interest in any transaction to be considered,
shall abstain from voting at that board meeting, and the
related Director will not be counted on the quorum for

attending the meeting.

(m) The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as
its own Code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors of the Company. All incumbent Directors
have confirmed following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard set

out in the Model Code through the year.

4. Board diversity policy

On 27 August 2013, the Company adopted the Board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) in accordance with the
requirement set out in the CG Code. On 31 March 2016, the
Company revised the Board Diversity Policy. The Company
recognises that the Board diversity is an essential element
contributing to the sustainable development of the Company. In
designing the Board's composition, the Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to the skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and educational
background or professional experience. All Board appointments
are based on merits and considered against a variety of objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the

Board.
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Gender Diversity

A Board Diversity Policy has been formulated by the Company to
establish the approach to diversity in respect of the Board. The
Company will ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance
of skills, experience and diversity of views and perspectives that
are required to support the execution of its strategic objectives
and business model.

All board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard
to the benefits of diversity on the Board, with a range of
perspectives including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision
will be based on merits and contributions that the selected
candidates are expected to bring to the Board.

The Group also values the diverse talents and experience of its
employees and uses a meritocracy approach, to bring in a wide
range of talents from different backgrounds, cultures, talents
and genders to generate more innovative ideas and impetus to
the enterprises. As of 31 December 2024, the Group had 54
employees (including senior management), with a gender ratio
of around 2:1 (Male: Female), achieving a reasonable balance
of gender diversity among employees in view of the natural gas
exploration and development industry.

No member of the Board is materially related to one another in
terms of financial, business and family aspects. Brief biographical
details of the Directors are set out on pages 22 to 26 of this
Annual Report. In all corporate communication channels as well
as the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, the
composition of the Board according to the categories and duties
of the Directors are disclosed.

Mr. Liu Wenxuan and Mr. Liu Dong are the Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company respectively.
Interpretation of the Responsibilities between the Chairman of
the Board and the Chief Executive Officer have been adopted
for the distinction between the two positions.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 5.

(@) As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the
Board is Mr. Liu Wenxuan, who was appointed on 19
July 2024. Mr. Liu Dong was appointed as the CEO on 30
April 2024.

(b)  The CEO provides leadership and is responsible for the
effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice. With the support
of the senior management, the CEO is also responsible
for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner and
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meeting.

(c)  The Directors focus on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board.
Directors are in charge of the Company’s day-to-day
management and operations. The Directors are also
responsible for assisting the CEO in developing strategic
plans and formulating the company practices and
procedures, business objectives, and risk assessment for
the Board's approval.

Non-executive Directors 6.

All non-executive Directors, including independent non-
executive Directors, of the Company, have not been appointed
for a specific term, but are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in the AGM in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company.
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7. Remuneration of Directors

(a)

The Company has established a remuneration committee
since 23 September 2005 with written terms of reference
and revised on 27 March 2012 and 30 December 2022 as
disclosed on the Company’s website. The primary duties
of the remuneration committee include the following:

i. to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration
of Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing policy on such remuneration;

i.  to have the delegated responsibility to determine
the specific remuneration packages of all executive
Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payment, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive Directors. The
Committee should consider factors such as salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the group and desirability of
performance-based remuneration;

ii. to review and approve performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

iv.  to review and approve the compensation payable
to executive Directors and senior management
in connection with any loss or termination of
their office or appointment to ensure that such
compensation is determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that such
compensation is otherwise fair and not excessive for
the Company;
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v.  to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of directors for
misconduct to ensure that such arrangements are
determined in accordance with relevant contractual
terms and that any compensation payment is

otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

vi.  to review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;

vii. to advise shareholders of the Company on how
to vote with respect to any service contracts of
Directors that require shareholders’ approval under

the Listing Rules; and

viii. to ensure that no director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

(b)  Up to the date of this annual report, the members of
the Remuneration Committee comprised Mr. Lee Man
Tai who acts as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, Mr. Zhang Zhenming, Mr. Liu Dong, Mr.
Liu Wenxuan and Ms. Chin Ying Ying. The majority of
members of the Remuneration Committee is comprised of
independent non-executive Directors of the Company.

(©)  The number of Remuneration Committee meeting held
during the year and record of individual attendance of
members, on a named basis, at meetings was set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual
report. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed and
approved the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives.

(d)  The emolument policy of the employees of the Group was
set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of

their merit, qualification and competence.

(e)  The emolument of the directors of the Company is
determined by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual

performance and comparable market statistics.
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(f)  The Group's share option scheme as described in the
“Report of the Directors” was approved at the general
meeting of the Company on 25 June 2013 and adopted
as the Group’s long-term incentive scheme.

Nomination of Directors

The Company has established a Nomination Committee since
27 March 2012 with written terms of reference and amended
on 27 August 2013 as disclosed on the Company’s website. The
primary functions of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

to review the structure, size and composition (including
but not limited to the skills, knowledge, gender, age,
cultural and educational background or professional
experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

i. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
the members of the Board and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships on merits and
against objective criteria, with due regard on the benefits
of diversity on the Board, especially to ensure that the
independent non-executive Directors comprise at least
one-third of the Board;

ii. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

iv. to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman of the Board and the CEO, taking into account
the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills,
knowledge, diversity and experience in the future; and
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v.  to review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, and
to review the measurable objectives that the Board has
set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the
progress on achieving the objectives; and make disclosure
of its review results in the Corporate Governance Report
annually.

The Company has a nomination policy of having a board of
Directors with a diversity of skills and experience. The selection
and proposed appointment of the Directors are submitted to the
Nomination Committee of the Company for consideration prior
to Board approval, and the re-election of Directors is conducted
in accordance with the Articles. The criteria of assessing a
candidate include his/her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to participate in the affairs of the Company including
the attendance of Board meetings and serving on committees,
to bring business experience to the Board and to contribute to
the Board diversity. If the candidate is proposed to be appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, his/her independence
shall be assessed in accordance with the requirements under
the Listing Rules. The totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall be evaluated in assessing his/
her suitability.

Up to the date of this annual report, the members of the
Nomination Committee comprised Mr. Liu Wenxuan who acts
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee, Mr. Zhang
Zhenming, Mr. Lee Man Tai, Mr. Liu Dong and Ms. Chin Ying
Ying. The majority of members of the Nomination Committee
is comprised of independent non-executive Directors of the
Company.

The number of Nomination Committee meeting held during
the year and record of individual attendance of members, on
a named basis, at meetings held during was set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report. The
nomination committee had reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board, made recommendations on the
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy and assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.
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Auditors’ remuneration

For the financial year, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the
auditor of the Company, received HK$1,000,000 (2023:
HK$1,000,000) in respect of audit service provided to the
Group. No other remuneration for non-audit service was
incurred during the year (2023: Nil). The auditors’ remuneration
has been duly approved by the Audit Committee and there was
no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the selection and appointment of auditor.

Audit Committee

(a)

The Audit Committee of the Company was established on
30 January 2002. The written terms of reference of the
audit committee were revised on 27 March 2012 and 31
March 2016 as disclosed on the Company’s website. As
at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lee
Man Tai (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Zhang
Zhenming, Mr. Yan Danhua, Mr. Chen Jianxin and Ms.
Chin Ying Ying. Mr. Lee Man Tai, Mr. Yan Danhua and
Ms. Chin Ying Ying are qualified accountants for many
years. In the opinion of the Board, the members of the
Audit Committee have sufficient financial management
expertise to discharge their duties.

The number of audit committee meetings held during
the year and record of individual attendance of members,
on a named basis, at meetings held was set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

The Audit Committee is delegated by the Board to assess
matters related to the financial statements of accounts
and to provide recommendations and advices, including
but not limited to the followings:

i. to consider, and to make recommendation to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to approve the
audit fee and other terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor;
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Vi.
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to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectively and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standard;

to discuss with the external auditors before the
audit commences, the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations and ensure co-ordination
where more than one audit firm is involved;

to develop and implement policy on the
engagement of an external auditor to supply non-
audit services. For this purpose, external auditor shall
include any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the audit firm or
any entity that a reasonable and informed third
party having knowledge of all relevant information
would reasonably conclude as part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally. The Committee
should report to the Board, identifying any matters
in respect of which it considers that action or
improvement needed and making recommendations
as to the steps to be taken;

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts,
half-year report and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly reports, and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them;

in reviewing, the Company’s annual report and
accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports before submission to
the Board, the Committee should focus particularly
on:

a. any changes in accounting policies and
practice;

b.  major judgmental areas;

c.  significant adjustments resulting from the
audit;
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d. the going concern assumption and any
qualifications;

e.  compliance with accounting standards;

f. compliance with the Listing Rules and other
legal requirements in relation to financial
reporting;

g. the fairness and reasonableness of any
connected transaction and the impact of such
transaction on the profitability of the Group;

h. whether all relevant items have been
adequately disclosed in the Group’s financial
statements and whether the disclosures give a
fair view of the Group’s financial conditions;

any significant or unusual items that are, or
may need to be, reflected in such reports and
accounts; and

j- the cash flow position of the Group.

and to provide advice and comments thereon to the
Board;

in regard to vi. above:

a. members of the Committee must liaise with
the Board and senior management. The
Committee must meet, at least twice a year,
with the Company’s auditors; and

b.  the Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be,
reflected in such reports and accounts and
must give due consideration to any matters
that have been raised by the Company’'s
accountant, compliance officer or auditors.
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viii.

Xi.

Xii.

Xiii.

XiV.

to discuss problems and reservations arising from
the interim and final audits, and any matters the
auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of
management where necessary);

to discuss with the management the risk
managements and internal control systems and
ensure the management has discharged its duty to
have effective risk management and internal control
systems and to review the Company’s statements
on risk management and internal control systems
(which are included in the annual report) prior to
endorsement by the Board;

to consider any findings of major investigations on
risk management and internal control matters as
delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response;

(where an internal audit function exists) to review
the internal audit programme, ensure co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, and
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Company and to review monitor, the effectiveness
of the internal audit function;

to conduct exit interviews with any director,
manager, financial controller or internal audit
control manager upon their resignation in order to
ascertain the reasons for his departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the
Board and to prepare summary of work reports for
inclusion in the Group’s interim and annual reports;

to consider the appointment of any person to be a
Committee member, a company secretary, auditors
and accounting staff (including internal control
department) either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Committee member, company secretary,
auditors and accounting staff or dismissal of any of
them;
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xv. to consider the major findings of internal
investigations and management'’s response;

xvi. to review the external auditor’s management
letter, any material queries raised by the auditor
to management in respect of the accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;

xvii. to ensure that the Board will provide a timely
response to the issues raised in the external auditor’s
management letter;

xvii. to report to the Board on the matters set out in the
code provisions contained in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices set out in (and as amended
from time to time) Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules;
and

Xix. to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by
the Board from time to time.

In addition to the above tasks regarding to the Company’s
financial statement, the audit committee should also to
consider any other matters, as defined by the Board from
time to time; and to conduct interviews with any director,
manager, financial controller upon their resignation in
order to ascertain the reasons for his departure.

The audit committee acknowledges its responsibility in
maintaining sound and effective internal control system of
the Group to safeguard investments of the shareholders
and assets of the Company at all times.

The Group’s financial statements for the six months ended
30 June 2024, the nine months ended 30 September
2024 and the year ended 31 December 2024 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

EXELARE

xv. EEANFEREIEANE
ANEEEDE

xi. WEINEZBMETEERRE
W«%%ER%%H#>W§

AL @Rt AR - BT ER B
HERERAEEERDD
EMERRERMERREED
A [Bl fE

xvii. WEIRE F® KO ERINE
ZHEGTEEEN(ERZ
ERSEA R RRENSE
T

xviii. LR R R BT 8% C1 R %1 RB
(ETEBE]) MR EER
WRSTRD NEF /ST RIE
XM ETRAESSE
we &

xix. THEZEEFEATHEIR
MR EIR -

R ERBBARRPTHERRZE
BN BREREGNBEERES
ETHRAECEMER: REM
MEE KBNS AER IR
HREEA YT EESET
ZRA -

ERZESMBHBEDNERSL
SET BRI ABEESE -
N2 ERERR 2% E RAKAF
BE -

AEEBZE-_ZT_FA A=
RIEANER -BEEZZ_MFAN
A=+HIAEAAREZ —-=
“WE+-_A=Z+—HItFEZ
B RREAERZEEEHN -

Annual Report & #§ 2024 49



Corporate Governance Report

EXER

11.

12.

50

®E

Company Secretary

Mr. Siu Kai Chun (“Mr. Siu”) has been the Company Secretary
of the Company since June 2022. Mr. Siu is a qualified
accountant in Hong Kong. He reports to the Board on Board
procedures and assists the Board in the compliance of law,
rules and regulations. During the year, Mr. Siu undertook
over 15 hours of professional training to update his skills and
knowledge.

Shareholder Rights

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding
a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings are contained in
the Company’s articles of association. Details of such rights to
demand a poll and the poll procedures will be explained during
the proceedings of meetings, if requested by shareholders.

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll, except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to
be voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the resolutions set
out in the notice of the forthcoming AGM of the Company will
be voted by poll, and the poll results will be published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on or before
the business day following the shareholders’ meeting.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. The
chairman of the Board as well as the chairmen of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, or in their absence, other members of the
respective committees, is available to answer questions at the
shareholders’ meetings. Separate resolutions are proposed at
shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including the
election of individual directors. During the year, there was no
significant change in the constitutional documents.
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Extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the Board
on requisition of shareholders holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company or by such shareholders
who made the written requisition (the “Requisitionists”) to
the Board or the Secretary of the Company (as the case may
be) pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association. Such
Requisition must state the object of business to be transacted
at the meeting and must be signed by the Requisitionists
and deposited at the registered office of the Company or the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as
set out in such Article for convening an extraordinary general
meeting. Shareholders may put forward proposals at general
meeting of the Company by sending the same to the Company
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong.

The meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of the requisition. If within 21 days of the deposit of
the requisition the Directors fail to proceed to convene the
EGM, the Requisitionists may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionists by the Company.

The Articles of the Company provides that no person other than
a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Directors for election, be eligible for election as Director
at any general meeting unless a notice signed by a member
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend
and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given of his
intention to propose that person for election and also a notice
by that person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected
shall have been lodged at the registered office or principal
place of business in Hong Kong at least seven clear days before
the date of the general meeting. Accordingly, if a Shareholder
wishes to nominate a person to stand for election as a Director
at the AGM, the following documents must be validly served at
the Company within the period specified in the Articles, namely:

(1) his/her notice of intention to propose a resolution to elect
a nominated candidate as a Director at the AGM;
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(2) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of the
candidate’s willingness to be elected,;

(3) the nominated candidate’s information as required to be
disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and

(4) the nominated candidate’s written consent to the
publication of his/her personal data.

Investor Relations

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders
may send written enquiries to the Company. Shareholders may
send their enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular dialogue with investors and analysts to keep
them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from
investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy.
The Group currently communicates with the investors and
shareholders through the investor relations email address and
contact number in our Hong Kong Office. The Group’s Directors
and senior management actively communicated with financial
investor relations media in Hong Kong and mainland China such
as participation of functions organised by Bloomberg, Reuters,
The Hong Kong Stock Exchange, The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors, The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and so forth.

Dividend Policy

The Company adopts a dividend policy, taking into
consideration all circumstances including the following factors
before declaring or recommending dividends: (i) the current
and projected financial performance of the Company; (ii) the
growth and investment opportunities; (iii) other macro and
micro economic factors; and (iv) other factors or events that the
Board may consider relevant or appropriate from time to time.
The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under
the applicable laws and the Articles.

13.

14.
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15. Directors’ Responsibility for Preparing Financial
Statements

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group and
for ensuring that the financial statements are prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. The Board also ensures the timely
publication of the financial statements of the Group.

The appropriateness of the preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis largely depends upon the outcome of the underlying
assumptions as detailed in Note 3(b)(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements, which in particular include: (i) XJXT, a
single largest substantial shareholder expressed willingness to
provide financial support in case the Company is unable to
meet all the obligations; (i) the Group being able to successfully
persuade contractors in the PRC not to insist on demanding
repayment of the construction cost payables; and (iii) the Group
being able to raise adequate funding through bank borrowings
or otherwise. However, the Company has not obtained any
written confirmation that the contractors will not insist on
demanding repayment of the construction cost payables. These
conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainty that
may cast significant doubts about the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Save as disclosed above, the Directors
are not aware of any other events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Directors have prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis,
taking into consideration the various factors set out in the
section headed “Going concern basis” on pages 85 to 86 of
this annual report.

By the order of the Board

Liu Wenxuan
Chairman & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

15.

EXELARE

EEUHRERMBBER2ER

EFENTHARRREASENYE
W& WHRMBRREOETERTE ME
AErtERRYE EFQNBEEAAEH
BTG ER RS )3 -

BREEREERRUARAZHEEMT
BREDEE  TEEORNEBRR
RER - BUINER B A% R R I RE 3(b)Gi) AT
Fu o ERRRIeROFRARSE—
RATERRRFTEERBEMBEGE
NEITREABITAABES « (DAKMERE
PRI &R P B AR A A B R REMN 2
KB R(NAEEGEBEBRITEE
FEMTAERRWES - A > AR
Al ARG EMEmMER  AEEH IS
BEZRENENELER -ZFER
RRGFAESATHEEN  KEHAEE
FERENRENELERRB K LEX
PIREEI  EEHMAMNBERREY
ARAFHBEENRNELERERD
HipEFHBER -

BEWMEXFL - % BAERESSE
86 E [HEMB A — G #2518
FZk EFCEBELELERRLE
AR EE -

B3R

FERHTEF

FH —E-RAF=A=1+N\H

Annual Report & #§ 2024 53



Report of the Directors

EEEHS

The Directors present herewith the annual report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Principal Activity and Business Review

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries include the
exploration, production and distribution of natural gas in the PRC, and
the sales of food and beverages and money lending business in Hong
Kong, the details of which are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), including a fair review
of the business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year 2024, and
an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
can be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. The
above section forms part of this report of the Directors.

Financial Statements and Dividends

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and Comprehensive Income on pages 76
to 77.

The state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2024 is set out in

the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position on pages 78 to 79.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2024.

Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the consolidated financial results and consolidated
assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set
out on page 168.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set
out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2024 are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

Movements in share capital of the Company during the year, together
with reasons thereof are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 80 and Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2024 are set
out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Taxation Relief and Exemption

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares
during the year (2023: Nil).

Report of the Directors
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the financial year is as follows:

The largest customer BREP

Five largest customers in aggregate hREP 5T
The largest supplier SAMER

Five largest suppliers in aggregate R AR ER 25T

N/A Not Applicable

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest
in these major customers and suppliers.

Composition of the Board

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this annual report as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Liu Wenxuan (Chairman of the Board)?

Mr. Liu Dong (Chief Executive Officer)’
Mr. Zhao Guogiang (ex Chief Executive Officer)'

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yan Danhua?

Mr. Chen Jianxin?

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Zhenming

Mr. Lee Man Tai
Ms. Chin Ying Ying?
Mr. Cheng Chun Ying?

TEFFRHEER

RMBFEEAR TEEPRHEBS MER

SEZHEBRRBENT

Percentage of the Group’s total

HAREEZEER DL
Sales Purchases
HER 24 2
94.2% N/A
100% N/A
N/A 100%
N/A 100%

N/A TEA
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Notes:

1. Mr. Zhao Guogiang resigned on 30 April 2024 whereas Mr. Liu Dong was
appointed on the same date.

2. Mr. Liu Wenxuan, Mr. Yan Danhua and Mr. Chen Jianxin were appointed on 19
July 2024.
3. Mr. Cheng Chun Ying resigned on 20 December 2024 whereas Ms. Chin Ying

Ying was appointed on the same date.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, Directors
retiring at the upcoming AGM will be eligible for re-election. Further
details of the Directors’ re-election will be set out in a circular of the
Company dispatched together with the notice of the AGM.

Directors’ Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company are set out on
pages 22 to 26 of this annual report.

During the period under review and up to the date hereof, the
following changes in Directors’ information are disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules:

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 30
April 2024, Mr. Zhao Guogiang resigned as Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and Authorised Representative, due to his intention
to devote more time to his personal commitments. Mr. Liu Dong (”Mr.
Liu”) was appointed as Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer and
Authorised Representative with effect from 30 April 2024. Please refer
to the announcement dated 30 April 2024 for the biographical detail
of Mr. Liu and his appointment terms and conditions.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 19
July 2024, the appointments of Chairman, Directors and the Board
committee members were made as follows:

(1) Mr. Liu Wenxuan was appointed as Chairman, Executive
Director, a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

(2)  Mr. Liu was appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

(3)  Mr. Yan Danhua was appointed as Non-executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee.
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(4)  Mr. Chen Jianxin was appointed as Non-executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee.

Please refer to the announcement dated 19 July 2024 for the
biographical details of Mr. Liu Wenxuan, Mr. Yan Danhua and Mr.
Chen Jianxin and their appointment terms and conditions.

Ms. Feng Huiyuan (“Ms. Feng”), joined the Company as Vice
President on 16 September 2024. Ms. Feng graduated from Xinjiang
Normal University with a bachelor’s degree in Musicology in 2010 and
obtained a master’s degree in business administration (executive) and
a doctorate degree of business administration from The City University
of Hong Kong in 2021 and 2025 respectively. She is currently working
as Chief Executive Officer at Whalley Technology Limited since
December 2022 and Vice President at Beijing Yitang Mudan Electronic
Engineering Co., Ltd.* It R R HFEF TR BR A F since July
2018. She worked as Assistant General Manager at Xinjiang
Xinrongshen Investment Co., Ltd.* ¥T5E & g 221 & B R 2 7] from
April 2013 to June 2018. She worked as Head of Exhibition Affairs
Department at Xinjiang China Eurasia Expo Secretariat* 3 52 30 B {§
EEIWER from August 2010 to March 2013.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 20
December 2024, Mr. Cheng Chun Ying (“Mr. Cheng”) has resigned
as independent non-executive Director, chairman of remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”),
chairman of nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) and member of audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”) with effect from 20 December
2024 as he would like to devote more time to his other personal
commitments.

The Board is pleased to announce that, following the resignation of
Mr. Cheng, Ms. Chin Ying Ying (“Ms. Chin") has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 20 December 2024. Ms. Chin has
confirmed that (i) she has satisfied all the criteria for independence as
set out in Rule 3.13(1) to (8) of the Listing Rules; (ii) she has no past
or present financial or other interest in the business of the Group or
any connection with any core connected person (as defined under
the Listing Rules) of the Company; and (iii) there are no other factors
that may affect her independence at the time of her appointment.
Please refer to the announcement dated 20 December 2024 for
the biographical detail of Ms. Chin and her appointment terms and
conditions.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Board also announces that with effect from 20 December 2024,
Mr. Liu Wenxuan and Mr. Lee Man Tai have been appointed as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors confirmed that no other
information is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
a service contract with the Company which was not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation
other than statutory compensation.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No other contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

Directors’ Interest and Short Position in Shares

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFO")) which would have to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Directors’ Right to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Apart from the share option scheme disclosures in the section “Share
Option Scheme” below, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Equity-linked Agreements

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year
or subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

Share Option Schemes

The share option scheme which was adopted on 28 January 2002
(i.e. before the Company’s listing on the Stock Exchange in February
2002) (the “OIld Share Option Scheme”) has already expired on 28
January 2012. After its expiry, no further share option can be granted
under the Old Share Option Scheme. As at the beginning and the
end of the reporting period up to the date of this report, no option
remained outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme. No option
was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed the Old Share Option
Scheme during both the reporting period and the comparative period.

Following the expiry of the Old Share Option Scheme, the Company
adopted a new share option scheme at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 25 June 2013 (the “New Share
Option Scheme"”) for the purposes of recognising and acknowledging
the contributions that directors, employees, consultants, customers,
suppliers, agents, partners, advisers or contractors of the Group or
an affiliate corporation, or trustee of trust related to or controlled
corporation of any of the foregoing (the “Eligible Participants”)
had made or may make to the Group, and providing the Eligible
Participants with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company with the view to achieving the following objectives, namely:
(i) motivating the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and (ii) attracting and
retaining or otherwise maintaining ongoing business relationship with
the Eligible Participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to the long term growth of the Group. A summary of the principal
terms of the New Share Option Scheme can be founded on pages 7
to 17 of the Company’s circular dated 27 May 2013.
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The New Share Option Scheme had a life span of ten years running
from 25 June 2013 to 25 June 2023. Under the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, grant options
to the Eligible Participants to subscribe for shares of the Company
(“Shares”). Initially, the maximum number of Shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted under the
New Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) was
792,112,000 Shares, being 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the New Share Option Scheme on 25 June 2013. The
maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue, provided that the
maximum entitlement for any grantee being a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director or their associates shall be
capped at 0.1% of the shares in issue (or HK$5 million in value based
on the closing price of the shares underlying the options, whichever is
higher). Any grant exceeding these individual limits shall be subject to
shareholders’ approval, with the relevant grantees and their associates
abstaining from voting. The overall limit on the number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the New Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of
the Shares in issue from time to time.

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors at their sole discretion,
there is no general requirement of a minimum period for which
an Option must be held or any performance target which must be
satisfied or achieved before such an Option can be exercised. An
Option shall be exercisable at any time during an exercise period to
be notified by the Board to each grantee, provided that no Option
shall be exercisable later than ten years after its date of grant. The
subscription price of the options must be at least the highest of:
(a) the closing price of a Share as stated in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must be a
business day; and (b) the average of the closing prices of the Shares
as shown on the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for
the five Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(c) the nominal value of a Share. HK$1.00 is payable by each Eligible
Participant to the Company on acceptance of an offer of an Option,
which shall be paid within 14 days from the date of offer.
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No share option has ever been granted under the New Share Option
Scheme since its adoption on 25 June 2013, nor has the Scheme
Mandate Limit originally obtained at the time of adoption of the
New Share Option Scheme ever been refreshed. As at the date of
this report, 792,112,000 options (representing 8.33% of the existing
issued share capital of the Company) are available for grant under
the New Share Option Scheme (i.e. the Scheme Mandate Limit as
originally obtained on the date of approval of the New Share Option
Scheme on 25 June 2013). As at the beginning and the end of the
reporting period up to the date of this report, no option remained
outstanding under the New Share Option Scheme. No option was
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed the New Share Option Scheme
during both the reporting period and the comparative period.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Position

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the
persons, other than a director or chief executive of the Company, in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336
of the SFO were as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company

Number of
Name of Shareholders Nature of interests shares
BRER/ BB Emig BB EE
Alpha Eagle Limited (Note 2) Interest of controlled 970,000,000
EEBRRA (fe2) corporation
e EEAES

Beneficial owner

ERZBEEA

2,660,000,000

Beneficial owner

BEafAA

Cypress Dragons Limited (Note 2) 970,000,000

HEERDA (Hit2)
Interest of controlled

Xinjiang Mingxin Oil Gas Exploration 3,630,000,000

BBEREAEN T -—=FA=-1+HA
LA (e RN E R T TAEM B -
TR TR R BB O AT B RS IS 2 &
EIXEREE - NARE AH - REFERE
&I A% F792,112,000 17 B8 A 4 (15 R R 7]
REBHETRAZ833%)  BIFTERET 2
RITE—=F"A-THAEHEEZ AR
ZAEIEERE RAREHMMELR K
BRBEAREAH  FBREE TILE
BRI RITE - RIS AR E LM -
AL A BB U O 3T R A AT 8 T R
1T - FESHE R -

TERRzERRKXR

RZZBE_WNFE+_R=+—B ARFESF
EBBITHRABRINZ ALTRAR R 2B
KAEBER DA &S R ERIIE 33615
MEARRIZAR AR B SORB AT ¢

RERXARODREBRO 2HR

Approximate

Total number  percentage of

Number of of shares and issued share
underlying underlying capital
shares shares (Note 1)
EEBITRAR

1HES R BRE
BRBEE HERGAEH (HtaE1)
- 970,000,000 7.97%

- 2,660,000,000 21.87%

- 970,000,000 7.97%

- 3,630,000,000 29.84%

Development Co., Ltd.* (Note 2) corporation
FERR R RREERAR REHEENER
(Hf:22)
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Name of Shareholders

RREE/ BB

Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas
Co., Ltd.* (Note 2)

NBERARRRHER AT
(H1:t2)

Ming Zaiyuan (Note 2)
HEERWH2)

Nature of interests

EatE

Interest of controlled
corporation
TESEENES

Interest of controlled
corporation

Number of
shares

RHBE

3,630,000,000

3,630,000,000

Report of the Directors
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Total number

Approximate
percentage of

U.K. Prolific Petroleum Group
Company Ltd. (Note 3)

R B RER

neficial owner

Be 1,860,000,000
EREAA

REAARHEEBRAF

(H75E3)
Wang Guoju (Note 3) Interest of controlled 1,860,000,000
FTRE (#i3) corporation
TEHEENES
Notes:

*

Approximate percentage of issued share capital was stated as at 31 December
2024. As at 31 December 2024, the total number of issued shares was
12,165,344,000.

Based on the disclosure of interest (“DI”) filings, Alpha Eagle Limited (“Alpha
Eagle”) is interested in 2,660,000,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) (long
position) whereas Cypress Dragons Limited (“Cypress Dragons”) is interested
in 970,000,000 Shares (long position). Cypress Dragons is entirely controlled by
Alpha Eagle whereas Alpha Eagle is entirely controlled by Xinjiang Mingxin Oil
Gas Exploration Development Co., Ltd. (“XMX"), which in turn is controlled by
Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (“XTRQ") through its holding
65.0% of the total issued share capital of XMX. Mr. Ming Zaiyuan is interested
in 3,630,000,000 Shares of the Company through his holding of 41.07% of the
total issued share capital of XTRQ.

Based on the DI filings, U.K. Prolific Petroleum Group Company Limited (“UK
Prolific”) is interested in 1,860,000,000 Shares and convertible notes (the
“Convertible Notes”) in the principal amount of HK$232,790,000 due in
2041 not carrying any interest with right to convert the Convertible Notes into
1,385,654,762 Shares at a convertible price of HK$0.168 per Share. Based on the
DI filings, UK Prolific is entirely controlled by Mr. Wang Guoju.

English name is for identification purpose only

Number of of shares and issued share

underlying underlying capital

shares shares (Note 1)

HEBTHRAR

1B &7 A

RHEE HERGEAH (BteE1)

- 3,630,000,000 29.84%

- 3,630,000,000 29.84%

1,385,654,762 3,245,654,762 26.68%

1,385,654,762 3,245,654,762 26.68%
Htat

3.

RIZB-_MF+-_A=Z+—HNHERAS L - R
“E-WE+ZRA=T—H BETROAEA
12,165,344,000 f% °

BHEERERE ((REHE) BE EEARAA
(M| Z25% B A2 72,660,000,000 % % 15
(Fa)minEaRAR ((HRED) EXEEARA
970,000,000 % i 15 (47 &) - tHBE R EE 2R IE S
MEERIERFT A HFEREERAR ((HEH
) 2B MESRAARKRMHERAE ([H
RARR)) BEEHBANAEITRANGE5.0% °
PHEAEBBERFBENTRAARBEITRAN
41.07% A 72 7) 3,630,000,000 f& B 15 ©

BEEZEZERE REAALHEEGRA A
(B K F ) 7 1,860,000,000 % 2~ A &) & 1 ([B]
%]) RA & &% £232,790,000/8 T —F P —
FRHARRER ((TRERER]) T AR
ZEAMBBRERETHERMNARFNIERARS
1,385,654,762 gz {7 - EIREEARAR1H 0.168 B T °
RIEESBERE REABHIEAELEE2EHE -
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Treasury Management and Policies

The Group adopts a prudent approach for its cash management
and risk control. The objective of the Group’s treasury policies is to
minimise risks and exposures due to fluctuation in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates.

Cash has been generally placed in short-term deposits denominated
in Hong Kong dollar, US dollar, and Renminbi. The Group has
obtained bank facilities and borrowings with stable interest rates. The
Group does not foresee any significant interest rate risks. The Group’s
transactions and investment are mostly denominated in Hong Kong
dollar, and Renminbi. As the Group’s policy is to have its operating
entities to operate in their corresponding local currencies to minimize
currency risks, the Group does not anticipate any material foreign
exchange exposures and risks.

During the period under review, no hedging transactions related to
foreign exchange had been made, proper steps will be taken when
the management considers appropriate.

Directors’ Interests in a Competing Business
and Conflict of Interests

None of the Directors were interested in any business apart from the
Group’s business which competed or were likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the year.

Related and Connected Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party and connected transaction
of the Group under the Listing Rules are set out in Note 33 to the
financial statements.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities of
the Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

Sufficiency of Public Float

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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B 2 BB E &K -

Re—REERUABTLT EXTMARKE
ZREBFR - REBARE 2 M EREFRT
MEREER AEERHTEHEEANEKME
e ANEEZRXHRERZHIABT X
TRARBE BRAEENBRRSER
REBERBAEREMM T EREE LUK
EERE A AEEREMESAELNE
REVEE 5 L o

REBEHMA NEEMEFELERINE 2
WP AEREEERRABRKIEE
T REL

EERNBREXEBz2RBERAE
=
ERBEEENEAEEERAEREE
BERALBT YLK (REEEBRBRIN) @
HERELZ -

BEEATRBERS

RIEETRANNEENOE AR A L KEE
R HBER M HERRMFE3S -

BE HEREBEELALQFES

al
ke

REZ-_Z-_WNF+-_A=+—HILF (&K
LMD ER AR A RETAHERQ G E
BE - BERsHEARAQNREM EHES-

REHARNRERE

ARNBREE-_ZT -_WF+-_A=+—HI
FEN—BEEBREARZERE -

64 China Energy Development Holdings Limited FEg5R B 1 IRE PR A 7



Corporate Governance

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 28 to 53 of this
annual report.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own Code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the directors of the Company. All existing directors
have confirmed following specific enquiry by the Company that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the period under review.

Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and maintaining a high standard of corporate
social governance essential for creating a framework for motivating
staff, and contributes to the community in which we conduct our
businesses and creating a sustainable return to the Group.

The Company will upload the ESG Report for the year ended 31
December 2024 to the Stock Exchange and the Company website at
the same time of uploading this annual report. In order to save the
environment, the Company will not arrange hard copy printing to
every shareholder.

Working Conditions

The Company adopted the Board Diversity Policy in accordance with
the requirement set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code"). The Company recognizes that the Board diversity is an
essential element contributing to the sustainable development of the
Company. In designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to the skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and educational
background or professional experience. A Board Diversity Policy,
with the aim of enhancing the quality of the Board’s performance by
diversity, was adopted on 27 August 2013 and revised on 31 March
2016.
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The Group encourages its staff to participate in external seminars and
lectures to keep abreast of changes and updates on areas of legal,
compliance, financial accounting and reporting, and market industry
practices. Through these types of training, we believe that the Group
can increase its efficiency and productivity while overall reduction of
risk and uncertainties of the Group can be reduced.

The Company encourages continuous professional development
training for the Directors and senior management to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills which includes seminars and
workshops, updates on regulatory requirements and development
and corporate governance practices.

Health and Safety

The Group strives to provide a healthy and safe working environment
to the employees. In order to maintain a healthy and safe working
environment, the Group has upgraded and maintained tools, office
and IT equipment.

Environment Protection

Conservation of the environment is a key focus for the Group.
The Group complies with environmental legislation, encourages
environmental protection and promotes environmental protection
awareness to all employees of the Group.

Community Involvement

The Group is committed to participating in community events from
time to time, and to the improvement of community well-being and
social services. The Group supports and encourages staff to actively
participate in a wide range of charitable events outside working
hours, to raise awareness and concern for the community, and to
inspire more people to take part in serving the community. The Group
did not contribute any donations during the year (2023: Nil).

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group has compliance and risk management policies and
procedures, and members of the senior management are delegated
with the continuing responsibility to monitor adherence and
compliance with all significant legal and regulatory requirements.

As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the business and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable manner while
balancing the interests of its various stakeholders including customers,
suppliers and employees. Through regular stakeholder engagement
via different channels, the stakeholders are encouraged to give their
opinions regarding the environmental, social and governance policies
of the Group.

This includes providing quality services to customers, developing
effective and mutual beneficial working relationships with its
suppliers, and offering competitive remuneration package with safety
working environments to employees.

The details of environmental, social and governance policies
and performance of the Group will be disclosed in a standalone
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be issued in due
course.

Indemnity of Directors

A permitted indemnity provision that provides for indemnity against
liability incurred by Directors and chief executives of the Group is
currently in force and was in force throughout the year ended 31
December 2024.

Pension Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Cap 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed under
the jurisdiction of Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Cap 57 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and the employees are each required to
make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.
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The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the state-sponsored retirement scheme organised by the PRC
Government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of payroll to the retirement scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the PRC subsidiaries with respect to the
retirement scheme is the required contributions under the retirement
scheme.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no forfeited contribution is
available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

Information on the Non-Operating Use of
Funds of the Company by the Controlling
Shareholders and Other Related Parties

During the Reporting Period, there was no non-operating use of funds
of the Company by the controlling shareholder of the Company and
other related parties.

Information on lllegal External Guarantees

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no illegal external
guarantee.

Matters Relating to Insolvency and
Restructuring

There was no matter relating to insolvency and restructuring during
the Reporting Period.

Material Contracts and Their Performance
Trust, contractual and lease arrangement
During the Reporting Period, the Company did not enter into any trust

arrangement, contractual arrangement and/or lease arrangement that
will generate any profit or loss.

Material guarantee

During the Reporting Period, there was no material guarantee
provided by the Company.
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Other significant contracts

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no other significant
contracts.

Other significant investments held

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not hold any other
significant investments save for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss on Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31
December 2024 on page 78 of this report.

Acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates,
and joint ventures

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not have any material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates, or joint ventures.

Subsequent event

There were no important events affecting the Group, which occurred
after the end of the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises two non-executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors of the Company. Three
out of five audit committee members, namely, Mr. Lee Man Tai, Mr.
Chen Jianxin and Ms. Chin Ying Ying, possess recognised professional
gualifications in accounting and has experience in audit and
accounting. No former partner of the Company’s existing auditing
firm acted as a member of the Audit Committee within two years
from ceasing to be a partner or having any financial interest in the
auditing firm. The Audit Committee has adopted terms of reference
which are in line with the CG Code and are available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Group's audited
consolidated financial statements for year ended 31 December 2024
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which is of the opinion
that such statements complied with applicable accounting standards,
the Listing Rules and other legal requirements, and that adequate
disclosures have been made.
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Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited.

In compliance with Rule 30 of Appendix D2 of the Listing Rule, no
changes in auditor were reported in the preceding three years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Liu Wenxuan
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

ol

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA ENERGY DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Energy Development Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
76 to 167, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$223,996,000 as at 31 December 2024. This condition indicates a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matter described below to
be the key audit matter to be communicated in our report.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets

Refer to Note 15 and Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group tests the amount of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets for impairment. This impairment test is significant
to our audit because the balance of interests in a Petroleum Contract
in relation to the drilling, exploration, exploitation and production of
oil and/or natural gas included in property, plant and equipment of
HK$991,181,000 and intangible assets of HK$1,040,610,000 as at 31
December 2024 are material to the consolidated financial statements.
In addition, the Group's impairment test involves application of
judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.

FRSFECENERTREL

EEIRINGRAMBHRERMEIFREES
ER—_Z-_mNF+_A=+—HHRDEE
HEH /223,996,000 7 © ZIEAERERN
BEHRER AU ERERELEENENX
EREME - BEEZBRMLERLERE -

FRREEREE

REESHEXHE BRELFEARES
ERZRAHENGERVBRRTREZNS
HeBEZEERENHEAMBRER Lot E
HEARBENHEER MAERULEFER
EHERER BREUBBELENEATE
EMHE—EMEEEIN BEFEEE N
EERABRET R TEECEREZEH -

ME BERRBUARETLEE

ELHRAMIERRM T 15 MMIE18 -

EEEHEYE BELRSEBEAREBEREE
THETRBENR ZREARETEECE
ZEBEEE RAAR-_ZTE-_MNF+=A
—T—HHADE BERZBEURER
BAEARER MEFE ARRLEERHES
SRAREBBLABENIEREHRD T
991,181,000 7T 2 1,040,610,000 78 7T ¥f 47
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Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Assessing the identification of the related cash generating units;

- Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculations;

- Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow projections;

- Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including
revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and
discount rates);

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by Group;

- Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting with the
external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation process,
methodologies used and market evidence to support significant
judgments and assumptions applied in the valuation model; and

Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets under the petroleum contract is
supported by the available evidence.

Other Information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. The other information is expected to be
made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

By ZEMHE
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SRR S

Responsibilities of Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

%%ﬁ%é%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%i
B
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website
at: https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/
Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Tak Ching

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P06353

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

By ZEMHE

FHEERGAMBRRARENERE
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

SERmRkEMZEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= —ZE —NFE+_—_A=+—HILFE

Notes
HtaE

REVENUE & 6
Direct cost BEKAE
Other income E A 7
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HRAX
Staff costs B IR 9
Expenses related to short-term leases & 78 5E HAFA E 1 H
Depreciation of property, plantand  #1%  BE k&H 2 ITE

equipment 15
Depreciation of right-of-use assets AR EE 2 T E 16
Fair value loss of financial assets BEATEEFAEZZSREEY

at fair value through profit or loss A {E{EEE
Gain on disposal of financial assets  EEIZ AT EETAEBZZ £

at fair value through profit or loss & & 2 Wz
Provision for impairment of other b JiE Uk FRUIB R (B B 1% % 58

receivable, net
Amortisation of intangible assets M AR 18
Provision for impairment of property, ¥1% « B/E M & & 2 BB &

plant and equipment 15
Provision for impairment of intangible % 2 & 2 5 (B B &

assets 18
Expenses charged under Petroleum A& #9E A& B

Contract
Other operating expenses HmgEms
Finance costs A& KA 8
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX BR BT 15 Bt Al 2 A 9
Income tax charge FSHiF X 10
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEEF

Other comprehensive (loss)/ BRE#HA2E (BR) K
income after tax:

Items that may be reclassified to Al EF P EZ B o AE -
profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation T %I fE (L& IR INSERG 2 [ 5 72 58 -
of foreign operations
attributable to:

Owners of the Company PIN/NESTEF =N
Non-controlling interests SRR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ ZAFE2ME (HE) WHHALE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR
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2024 2023
—E-NF R4
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
300,101 332,034
(51,631) (48,367)
4,237 5,414
(25,758) (29,052)
(19,930) (18,217)
(1,219) (3,261)
(33,912) (36,173)
(3.460) (9,166)
(7,679) (1,603)
863 -
- (1,555)
(22,843) (25,872)
(9.121) (1,803)
(4,554) (3,330)
(12,029) (8,958)
(20,607) (10,150)
(36,059) (49,176)
56,399 90,765
(29,689) (21,885)
26,710 68,880
(50,483) (63,177)
(325) (465)
(24,098) 5,238




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FaRmRkEMEEKRER

For the year ended 31 December2024 2 —Z W&+ _—_A=+—HItFE

Notes
k=3
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FERESER, (FHE) :
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NESIEZ ZS DN
Non-controlling interests AR S
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ T HIE{G2mE (Bi8) U425 :
INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Company PIN/NETEF SN
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR A
EARNINGS PER SHARE (HK cents) &ERZEF (G&1lL) 12
— Basic —H K
- Diluted —#E

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
27,344 69,529
(634) (649)
26,710 68,880
(23,139) 6,352
(959) (1,114)
(24,098) 5,238
0.25 0.73
0.25 0.60
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Consolidqted Statement of Financial Position

FE MR R

At 31 December 2024 R-—Z_mHE+=-_H=+—H

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Exploration and evaluation assets

Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Account receivables

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

Current liabilities

Other payables and accruals
Lease liabilities

Amount due to a shareholder
Other borrowings

Total current liabilities

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

78 China Energy Development Holdings Limited R E

FRBEE
ME - BE MR
EREEE
BREFEEE
BVEE
EXETRIAEE

FRBEERE

RBEE
e Wi B R

B

BATEEFABRRZ

TREE

ﬁm%%%%~ﬁ@&

SN
ﬁi&ﬁﬂ &R

RBEEMRE

REBEE

ﬁ@ﬁﬁ KA N AT AR

%H %k%ﬁﬁ

HiptE &

REBEEAE

RBAEFE

EERBRABAME

BERBIBRIERAERAR

Notes

it

15
16
17
18
20

21

22

23
35a

24
25
26
27

2024 2023
—EE o=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,047,432 1,116,277
1,618 5,723

- 256
1,040,610 1,097,996
- 321
2,089,660 2,220,573
116,251 49,650
14,776 27,251
15,502 23,743
34,346 45,203
180,875 145,847
109,620 125,041
724 2,182
32,719 33,835
261,808 143,640
404,871 304,698
(223,996) (158,851)
1,865,664 2,061,722




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR R

At 31 December2024 R=Z—mHE+-_HF=+—H

2024 2023
—E-_NEF o=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FET

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 25 996 894
Other borrowings HmEE 27 - 209,520
Convertible notes CIEY =t 28 45,463 119,452
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAE 20 28,822 -
Total non-current liabilities ERBEFELE 75,281 329,866
NET ASSETS FEE 1,790,383 1,731,856

Equity =

Share capital &% AR 29 608,267 475,267
Reserves i 1,173,084 1,246,598
1,781,351 1,721,865
Non-controlling interests R ER 9,032 9,991
TOTAL EQUITY B 1,790,383 1,731,856

FIE6TBEZHEMBHRER_ZE_AF
—A-t)\BHEESelEREERNE I
ATIEERRES

The consolidated financial statements on pages 76 to 167 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 28
March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Approved by: B NI ATHE

Liu Dong Liu Wenxuan
EES EIDg:

Director Director
EF BEF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FARRSEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= —ZE —NFE+_—_A=+—HILFE

At 1 January 2023 RZFZ=%
-f—AR
Profit for the year FRET

Other comprehensive income: At EYE
Exchange differences on translation #§5M £ H)

of foreign operations EizR
Total comprehensive income FREEkRGRLE
for the year
At 31 December 2023 e
TZA=+-H
At 1 January 2024 RZZ-m%F
-f-H
Profit for the year FREF
Other comprehensive income: E 2N
Exchange differences on translation # & 54 £ #4
of foreign operations EXzR
Total comprehensive income FREEkRRLE
for the year
Issue of share capital upon HETARZEL

conversion of convertible notes BIRERR

At 31 December 2024 RIZZmE
tZA=t-R

Attributable to owners of the Company

RARERAEE

Convertible Non-
Issued  Contributed Share notes Translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital surplus premium reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests equity

B4 BELS FEREL
BRIRE  RABR  ROEE RERE  EXRGE  2HER it BER i 3
HKS$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET TET TET FET TET TET TET
475,267 30,004 1,679,187 695,828 (204,351) (960,422) 1,715,513 11,105 1,726,618
- - - - - 69,529 69,529 (649) 68,880
- - - - (63,177) = (63,177) (465) (63,642)
- - - = (63177) 69,529 6,352 (1,114) 5238
475,267 30,004 1,679,187 695,828 (267,528) (890,893) 1,721,865 9,991 1,731,856
475,267 30,004 1,679,187 695,828 (267,528)  (890,893) 1,721,865 9991 1,731,856
- - - - - 21,344 27,344 (634) 26,710
- - - - (50,483) - (50,483) (325) (50,808)
- - - - (50,483) 21,344 (23,139) (959) (24,098)
133,000 - 407,129 (457,504) - - 82,625 - 82,625
608,267 30,004 2,086,316 238,324 (318,011) (863,549) 1,781,351 9,032 1,790,383
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Interest income
Fair value loss on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
Exchange (gain)/losses, net
Provision for impairment of other
receivable, net
Loss on written off of property, plant
and equipment
Gain on modification of lease
Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment
Provision for impairment of intangible
assets
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss
Amortisation of intangible assets

Operating profit before working capital
changes

Change in accounts receivables

Change in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Change in amount due to a shareholder

Change in other payables and accruals

Proceeds received from disposal of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ZEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

RETHRERE

BR P15 751 B g
FSLATIRB (EH R
BERKA
ME - BEIRREZITE

EREEEZNE
FBUA

BAFEEFABRSZEREEZ

NP EERBRE
B (Weas) /B R F
BHEEEIRREFER

WEWE  BELREBZER

HEEskE
ME - BFE k& EREE

B EERERE

RERAFEESARGEZ
TREE W

B A E

FPAREBAREBAL LN

R BE B
BATHOE b K E A EOR >

P — % R R R
H {1 B 3R R B RO
EERATEESARRZ
SRAEZ EWHE

REEHMEREFHR

FH= — T —
*=_—=5

ME+ _—_A=1+—HIFE

2024 2023
—EE o=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
56,399 90,765
36,059 49,176
33,912 36,173
3,460 9,166
(239) (1,019)
7,679 1,603
(1) 1

- 1,555

35 -
(134) (1)
9,121 1,803
4,554 3,330
(863) -
22,843 25,872
172,825 218,424
(69,275) (49,928)
7.736 5,189
(1,050) -
1,452 (18,388)
5,659 -
117,347 155,297
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= —ZE —NFE+_—_A=+—HILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property, plant and
equipment

Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from other borrowings

Repayment of other borrowings

Repayment to shareholder

Interest paid

Payment of lease liabilities

Net cash used in financing activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

Effect on exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

REZHRERE

WM - BB MR

WA E

RETBHFAREFR

METHRERE
HitE B BFHIA
HifEEER

I7) i BRA& 7K
ERHE
HEAEMNR

METHRERTFH

ReRERREMD FHE

FNzReRhEFRRT

EREEr pE

FRZHAERERRE

RERERREZERDN

e MIRTTHER
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2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
(18,028) (85,891)
239 1,019
(17,789) (84,872)
89,999 -
(173,094) (116,630)
(749) -
(24,513) (36,959)
(802) (1,865)
(109,159) (155,454)
(9,601) (85,029)
45,203 131,296
(1,256) (1,064)
34,346 45,203
34,346 45,203




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B A R R R

For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Energy Development Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated on 4 April 2001 as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands. Its principal place of business is located at
Office J, 29/F, Plaza 88, No.88 Yeung Uk Road, Tsuen Wan,
New Territories, Hong Kong.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK") with
effect from 18 February 2002.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Company, through its major subsidiaries, is principally engaged
in (i) oil and gas exploration; (ii) distribution of natural gas; (iii)
sales of food and beverages and (iv) money lending business in
Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
"Directors”), as at the date of issue of these consolidated
financial statements, Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd.
("XTRQ") is the single largest substantial shareholder of the
Company.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1
January 2024. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of these new
and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to
the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for the
current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new
and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and revised HKFRSs would have a material impact on
its results of operations and financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

v'.R

For the Year ended 31 December2024 HZ —ZF &+ - A =+—HILFE

3.

84

CRUE R

BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs which also include Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and interpretations
issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong, the applicable disclosure required
by the Hong Kong Company Ordinance and the applicable
disclosure provisions of Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Main Board Listing Rules”).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the year in which the estimates is revised
if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of
the revision and future years if the revision affects both
current and future years.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk
of material adjustments in the next year are discussed in
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption

(i)

(i)

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
which are measured at fair values.

Going concern basis

The Directors have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis, the
appropriateness of which largely depends upon the
outcome of the underlying assumptions as detailed
below.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, its
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$223,996,000. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and therefore, the Group may
not be able to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Group’s current liabilities as at 31 December
2024 are mainly attributable to property, plant and
equipment/exploration and evaluation cost payables
amounting to HK$66,181,000 (31 December
2023: HK$77,256,000) and other borrowings
of HK$261,808,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$143,640,000). The Directors are of the view
that the Group will be able to successfully persuade
these contractors not to insist on demanding
repayment of the construction cost payables.
However, there is no certainty that these contractors
and creditor will not demand repayment.

3. REEEE)

(b)

(i)

(i)
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For the Year ended 31 December2024 HZ —ZF &+ - A =+—HILFE

3.

86

CRUE R

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. mEEE®
(b) Basis of measurement and going concern (b) FFTEEERFELERR
assumption (Continued) (#&)
(i) Going concern basis (Continued) (i) FELERE (&)

In view of the net current liabilities position, the ERNRBBEFE MR
Directors have carried out a detailed review of the EFERE 55 TAEBRS
cash flow forecast of the Group covering a period HAREEHRERRETH
of not less than twelve months from the end of DR+ ZE A BEERE R
the reporting period based on certain underlying STEAETFAEEN 25
assumptions including (i) XTRQ, a single largest WHFRARRE—HZAREE
substantial shareholder expressed willingness to REZRREERH VB
provide financial support in case the Company is ARBITREMBITERY
unable to meet all the obligations; (ii) the Group (i) 7N 5= B BE B DO 7 AR 3% 55
being able to successfully persuade contractors BETRBERENHRE
not to insist on demanding repayment of the B &(iii)$%§%%ﬁi@
construction cost payables; and (iii) the Group WITEEREMAAESE
being able to raise adequate funding through bank WED - IKER LR
borrowings or otherwise. Taking into account the AAREEZRARAER R
above assumptions, the Directors consider that the ZWHE+ZA=1+—HE
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet TZEANEEEHNEEE
its financial obligations as and when they fall due ® - BITEIBPBEE -
within the twelve months from 31 December 2024.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BEREFBR

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The
Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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For the Year ended 31 December2024 HZ —ZF &+ - A =+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

88

(b) Joint arrangement

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two
or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control. Relevant activities are activities that
significantly affect the returns of the arrangement. When
assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint
venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control
of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement.

In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group
recognises in its consolidated financial statements, its
assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; its
liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly; its share of revenue from the sale of its share
of the output by the joint operation; and its expenses,
including its share of any expenses incurred jointly, in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

China Energy Development Holdings Limited F Bl /RBI 2 IR R AR A B

4, EXREFBE
(b) BtE R

BALHE —HBAMEIIA LD
SDEFHBES ZRHE - HRE
ﬂﬁﬁé%%*“ﬁ%ﬂ%Zk
w HERHEREHRRYGAR

DIEEHEZAT—"BRERS
1 - BEE S R A H 22 HE B 8]
ERERZEZES - Rl

FHEHI R AEEGEEAN
Gz BEREEREME T I
ﬁZ/ZEﬁEET Ey J’AFX)E/H;XECI
HAAREGE BEREREE
REBABEREBTEZAER
ZRRNBHTER -

BEZHANRARAKLEREE
NE - KA/ —HBARY
Bt BHE BB LR E B4
ZATHEREZTEERRHEZE
EREEEINERBEREZAE -
BERAA—EBATH Bt
BEEHLHRAZEHEZ AL
DEREBEBRZEERE-

IAKERHREE 2 #ammE
AEBEREE BB RE D IRRE
ARFEEE - BE W kM
XHMEBVBRELEL  BRE
BE (BREERGEHR ﬁhﬁZEﬂ
BE) HAEG(BRAEEGEHR

EEZEMEE) ﬁ’n‘fﬁﬁﬁ%/\
RIEZEL < Wa - AREFRX (B
RERGERRES ZEARA)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SRUE R E

n‘l'.F

For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation

()

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Group’s
presentation currency. The functional currency of
the principal operating subsidiaries of the Group
is Renminbi. The Directors consider that choosing
Hong Kong dollars as the presentation currency best
suits the needs of the shareholders and investors.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using
the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at
the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

4, BEREFTHE &)
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For the Year ended 31 December2024 HZ —ZF &+ - A =+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

90

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation currency
as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

—  All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities and of borrowings are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of
the gain or loss on disposal.
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For the Year ended 31 December2024 HEZ —Z W&+ _-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance fees are recognised in profit or loss
during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Leasehold land and building 38 years
Leasehold improvements 3-6 years or over the term

of the lease; if shorter
Furniture and fixtures 3-8 years
Motor vehicles 6-10 years
Natural gas pipeline 10 years
Oil properties Over the units of productions

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.
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For the Year ended 31 December2024 HZ —ZF &+ - A =+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

92

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(e)

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending for
installation, and is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the year of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost
on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Costs directly
associated with an exploratory wells (drilling cost and
others) are capitalised pending a determination of
whether sufficient quantities of potentially economic gas
reserves have been discovered. If it is determined that
commercial discovery has not been achieved, these costs
are charged to profit or loss.

Expenditure incurred in the preliminary exploration stage
are written off as expense as incurred.

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability
of extracting natural resources become demonstrable,
relevant previously recognised exploration and evaluation
assets are reclassified as gas properties under property,
plant and equipment. These assets are assessed for
impairment before reclassification.
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024 & &

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Exploration and evaluation assets (Continued)

()

Impairment of exploration and evaluation
assets

The carrying amount of the exploration and
evaluation assets is reviewed when facts and
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of
an exploration and evaluation assets may exceed
its recoverable amount. When one or more of
the following events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable, the Group shall perform an impairment
test in accordance with HKAS 36.

- the year for which the Group has the right to
explore in the specific area has expired during
the year or will expire in the near future, and
is not expected to be renewed.

- substantive expenditure on further exploration
for and evaluation of natural resources in the
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned.

- exploration for and evaluation of natural
resources in the specific area have not led to
the discovery of commercially viable quantities
of natural resources and the Group has
decided to discontinue such activities in the
specific area.

- sufficient data exist to indicate that, although
a development in the specific area is likely
to proceed, the carrying amount of the
exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely
to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

94

0

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land and buildings
Motor vehicles

2-4 years
2-3 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined,
or otherwise the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease
liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-
term leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below
US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

()

(ii)

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair
value as at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

The interests in petroleum production sharing
contracts were amortised on unit of production
method.

Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for
use are tested for impairment annually, irrespective
of whether there is any indication that they may be
impaired. Intangible assets are tested for impairment
by comparing their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see the accounting policies in
respect of impairment of assets (other than financial
assets) below). If the recoverable amount of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is treated as revaluation decrease to the extent of its
revaluation surplus.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

96

(h) Recognition and derecognition of financial

0]

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control
on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

(@)

(i)

Financial assets at amortised cost; and

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less loss
allowance for expected credit losses.

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category
if they do not meet the conditions to be
measured at amortised cost and the conditions
of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income unless the Group designates
an equity investment that is not held for trading as
at fair value through other comprehensive income
on initial recognition.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

98

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently measured at fair value with any
gains or losses arising from changes in fair values
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss are net of
any interest income and dividend income. Interest
income and dividend income are recognised in profit
or loss.

(j) Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected
credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses with
the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an
amount equal to the expected credit losses that result
from all possible default events over the expected life of
that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit
losses”) for trade receivables, or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument
at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected
credit losses that represents the expected credit losses that
result from default events on that financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes which entitle the holder to convert the
notes into a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed
conversion price are regarded as compound instruments
consist of a liability and an equity component. At the
date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate
for similar non-convertible debt. The fair value of
any derivative features embedded in the compound
instruments is included in the liability component.
The difference between the proceeds of issue of the
convertible notes and the fair values assigned to the
liability component, representing the embedded option
for the holder to convert the notes into equity of the
Company, is included in equity as capital reserve. The
liability component is carried as a liability at amortised cost
using the effective interest method until extinguished on
conversion or redemption. The derivative components are
measured at fair value with gains and losses recognised in
profit or loss.

If the identifiable consideration received by the Company
appears to be less than the fair value of the convertible
notes issued, the Company measures the unidentifiable
services received (to be received) as the difference
between the fair value of the convertible notes issued and
that of the identifiable consideration received, and the
difference is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

(m)

(n)

(o)

100

Convertible notes (Continued)

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability
and equity components of the convertible notes based
on their relative carrying amounts at the date of issue.
The portion relating to the equity component is charged
directly to equity.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set
out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year ended 31 December 2024 & &

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

(a)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer with reference to the
customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the year between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised product or service exceeds one
year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

- the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue
is recognised by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Employee benefits

102

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Short term
employee benefits are recognised in the year when
the employees render the related service.

Employment Ordinance long service
payments

Certain employees of the Group have completed
the required number of years of service under
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong (the
"Employment Ordinance”) to be eligible for
long service payments upon termination of their
employment. The Group is only liable to make
such payments where the termination meets the
required circumstances specified in the Employment
Ordinance.

Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
when the services are rendered by the employees.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Finqncial Statements

For the Year ended 31 December 2024 & &

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Borrowing costs

()

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the
borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the
period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

104

(u) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised
on differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Taxation (Continued)

(v)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of productions processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4.

106

(w) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the

Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family

is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Company or of a parent of

the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the entities comprising the
Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow

subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the

other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same

third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If
the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year ended 31 December2024 HEZ —Z W&+ _-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Related parties (Continued)

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Company or to a
parent of the Company.

(x) Impairment of assets (other than financial

assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
except investment properties, investments, deferred tax
assets and receivables to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

108

(x)

(y)

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-
generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(z) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern basis

The Directors of the Company have prepared the
consolidated financial statements on the assumption that
the Group will be able to operate as a going concern in
the foreseeable future, which is a critical judgement that
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements. The assessment
of the going concern assumption involves making a
judgement by the Directors, about the future outcome
of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
The Directors consider that, after taking into account of
all major events or conditions, which may give rise to
business risks, that individually or collectively may cast
significant doubt upon the going concern assumption
as set out in Note 3(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has the capability to continue as a
going concern.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment on exploration and evaluation
assets, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

The Group tests the exploration and evaluation assets, oil
properties and construction in progress under property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets relating to
Kashi Project (“Kashi Project Assets”) for impairment
according to accounting policies stated in Notes 4(e),
4(g) and 4(x) to the consolidated financial statements.
The assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating unit
is determined based on value-in-use calculations which
require the use of assumptions and estimates. While
conducting an impairment review of the assets, the Group
makes certain judgement in making assumptions including
the volume of gas to be extracted during the forecast
period, the timing in commencing the development
stage and commercial production, future gas prices and
production costs, changes in these estimates may result in
significant variance to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. In estimating
the value in use of Kashi Project Assets, the Group has
made reference to the natural gas price based on the
selling price information and other documents exchanged
and items agreed during the joint committee meeting
between the representative of CNPC and the Group.
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of Kashi
Project Assets was approximately HK$2,031,791,000
(2023: approximately HK$2,148,652,000). Provision for
impairment of HK$8,887,000 on Kashi Project Assets
(2023: provision for impairment of HK$4,195,000) were
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Estimation of gas resources and/or reserves

(9]

Engineering estimates of the Group’s gas reserves
and resources are inherently imprecise and represent
only approximate amounts because of the subjective
judgements involved in developing such information. There
are authoritative guidelines regarding the engineering
criteria that have to be met before estimated gas reserves
can be designated as “proved”. Proved reserves estimates
will be updated at least annually and take into account
recent production and technical information about each
field. In addition, as prices and cost levels change from
year to year, the estimate of proved reserves also changes.
The change will be considered as a change in estimation
for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective
basis in related depreciation rates.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering
estimates, these estimates are used in determining
amortisation expense, impairment expense and future
dismantlement costs. Amortisation rates are determined
based on estimated proved reserve quantities (the
denominator) and capitalised costs of producing properties
(the numerator). Producing properties’ capitalised costs
are amortised based on the unit-of-production method.

Recognition of deferred income tax assets

According to the accounting policy as stated in Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements, deferred income
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can
be utilised, and it is measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
assets are realised. In determining the deferred income
tax assets to be recognised, management is required to
estimate the future applicable tax rate for each subsidiary
of the Company at each tax jurisdiction and the profitability
of each subsidiary, so as to estimate the future utilisation
of tax losses. Any difference between these estimates and
the actual outcome will impact the Group’s result in the
year in which the actual outcome is determined.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(d) Impairment of financial assets

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9
across all categories of financial assets requires judgement,
in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of
future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a
number of factors, changes in which can result in different
levels of allowances.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk for exposures
since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default
occurring over the expected life between the reporting
date and the date of initial recognition. The Group
considers reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost or effort for
this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative
information and also, forward-looking analysis.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on
the internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision-maker in order to allocate resources to the
segment and to assess its performance. In accordance with
the Group’s internal organization and reporting structure, the
operating segments are based on nature of business.

The Group has the following three reportable segments:

The Exploration, Production and Distribution of Natural
Gas segment is engaged in the exploration, development,
production and sales of natural gas and the usage of pipeline

for distribution of natural gas.

The Sales of Food and Beverages Business segment is engaged
in the sales of food and beverages.

The Money Lending Business segment is engaged in provision of
loans to third parties.
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(a) Information about reportable segment

revenue, profit or loss and other

information

For the year ended
31 December 2024

Revenue from external customers

Reportable segment profit/(loss)
before income tax

Segment results included:

Interest income

Interest expense

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of intangible assets

Provision for impairment of property,

plant and equipment
Provision for impairment of

intangible assets
Income tax charge

As at 31 December 2024

Reportable segment assets
Reportable segment liabilities

BE-Z-mE
t=A=t-H
LEE

pI: (k-6

B HBRETEE A
U// EiE)

DEFERE

MBBA

MBRX

nE - BERREZ
ik

EREEECHE

B EEEH

nx - BE K&
e

BV EERERME

e pifE

FrEmR X

>34

esippes
o e e

==l

11 A

S

Dkt Dk

= =

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.
(Continued)

The segment information provided to the Board for the
reportable segments for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 are as follows:

g3 R B B )

BHE—
=t— Etif FLAI 2
SRENSMERDT -

m¢&7777¢+ A
BoMmES

(a) HBIT RS WU RF
REENERREMESR
Exploration, Sales of
Production and Food and Money
Distribution of Beverages Lending
Natural Gas Business Business Total
RARHE - HERMR
EERDH EEES MEX® st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
300,101 - - 300,101
87,191 (141) (168) 86,882
218 - - 218
(26,739) - - (26,739)
(32,354) - - (32,354)
(3,460) - - (3,460)
(22,843) - - (22,843)
(4,333) - - (4,333)
(4,554) - - (4,554)
(30,339) - - (30,339)
2,204,947 168 15 2,205,130
(401,307) - - (401,307)
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.
(Continued)
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(a) Information about reportable segment

114

revenue, profit or loss and other

information (Continued)

For the year ended
31 December 2023

Revenue from external customers

Reportable segment profit/(loss)
before income tax

Segment results included:

Interest income

Interest expense

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of intangible assets

Provision for impairment of property,

plant and equipment

Provision for impairment of
intangible assets

Provision for impairment of other
receivables

Income tax charge

Addition to capital expenditures

As at 31 December 2023

Reportable segment assets
Reportable segment liabilities
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REBENERREMER
(&
Exploration, Sales of

Production and Food and Money

Distribution of Beverages Lending
Natural Gas Business Business Total

RAREE HERmR

EERDH HEEET MERS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
332,034 - - 332,034
114,598 (410 (209) 113,979
871 - - 871
(37,513) - - (37,513)
(34,513) (102) - (34,615)
(9,166) - - (9,166)
(25,872) - - (25,872)
(865) - - (865)
(3,330) - - (3,330)
(1,926) - - (1,926)
(22,015) - - (22,015)
30,829 - - 30,829
2,275,938 183 17 2,276,138
(480,150) ) - (480,152)
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.
(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit

or loss, assets and liabilities

Profit before income tax

Reportable segment profit before
income tax

Other income

Fair value loss of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Provision for impairment of property, plant
and equipment

Finance costs

Unallocated head office and corporate
expenses

Profit before income tax

BR it 15 Bt A1 2 7
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(b) A2/ MWBENNEE - &

EREEZHIER
2024 2023
—E-NEF —T-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
86,882 113,979
18 152
(7,679) (1,603)
863 -
(4,788) -
(9,320) (11,663)
(9,577) (10,100)
56,399 90,765
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WERDHESR )
(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit (b) IEHD B RFRNEE - &
or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) EREBZHER®E)
2024 2023
—E-MF T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AZHHHEE 2,205,130 2,276,138
Property, plant and equipment M - BB MK 44,626 50,973
Other receivables, deposits and Hib el gIE ~ ime &
prepayments TERTRIE 1,096 980
Financial assets at fair value through BRATVEEFAEBERZZ
profit or loss cRMEE 14,776 27,251
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHE 4,907 11,078
Total assets BmEE 2,270,535 2,366,420
Liabilities =L
Reportable segment liabilities A2HOEaE 401,307 480,152
Convertible notes A I R ik 45,463 119,452
Amount due to a shareholder FE — R R R FIA 32,719 33,835
Other payables and accruals E B REREGTEA 663 1,125
Total liabilities mak 480,152 634,564
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with customers:

Geographical markets
The People’s Republic of China
(the “"PRC")

Major product/service
Natural gas

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point of time

Geographical markets
The PRC

Major product/service
Natural gas

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point of time

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.
(Continued)

(c) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

HWEWS
hEARLME
(T E D)

TEER R

Wz R R A
Nk

it 8 7 48
i

TEER R

W EEREE
INSIEE

W=k oiER 2

(0 ZHEREEFEHzZNE:

Exploration,
Production and

Distribution of 2024
Natural Gas Total
RARREER - —E-F
EERDH et
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
300,101 300,101
300,101 300,101
300,101 300,101
Exploration,
Production and
Distribution of 2023
Natural Gas Total
RARBER - T =F
FERDHE w@Et
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEIT FET
332,034 332,034
332,034 332,034
332,034 332,034
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6.

118

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

(Continued)

(c) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers: (Continued)

Sales of natural gas

The Group explores and sells natural gas to the customer.
Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to
a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products and the
customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

(d)

Exploration, Production and Distribution

of Natural Gas segment
Customer A
Customer B

Revenue from major customers:

%%ﬁ@%~
DD EB
ZFA
=FB

(e) Geographic information

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’ s
revenue from external customers and non-current assets
other than deferred tax assets (“Specified non-current

assets”).

Hong Kong (place of domicile)
The PRC

China Energy Development Holdings Limited R E

HER

I 71 1%

(9]

(d)

(e)

2 EER (=)
2FRAEFAHZNE
HBEAR

AEEHREATPHERAR
HEREmMmIEF#ER (MER

RETEFPE)  WEAREZER
PEMNEmMIABTEANARE
FPEEREmM S /AMBRERRER

REFEEFzWH
2024 2023
—E-OE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
282,777 316,370
17,324 15,664

i & & K

TRENWREBEBIINEER 2
W RIERBEE CELEHRBEEE
BROMN(THEEHERBEE ] MO -

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
MBS 2 W& EEFRBEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
—EDNFE T ZBDAF C—T=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK3$'000
FER FHET FER FET
B () - 44,626 50,973
H 300,101 332,034 2,045,034 2,169,279
300,101 332,034 2,089,660 2,220,252
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

OTHER INCOME

Interest income

Exchange gain, net

Gain on modification of lease

Administrative and management fee
income

FINANCE COSTS

Interest on other borrowings (Note 27)

Interest on convertible notes (Note 28)

Interest on other payables

Interest on amount due to a shareholder
(Note 26)

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 25)

7. Hilg A
2024 2023
—EC-mEF —E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
R EUA 239 1,019
SFIE s 1 -
HEBR k= 134 1
THREEBEWA
3,863 4,394
4,237 5,414
8. EMEMA

2024 2023
—EmE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHETT
B EERBE (Hit27) 26,428 36,959
AIRRR =R F S (K32 28) 8,636 11,663
BB 107 -

N — R RE 2 F B (Hfit26)
683 -
HEBER B (HiE25) 205 554
36,059 49,176
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10.

120

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BRETEBHAIEF
The Group’s profit before income tax is stated after charging: REBERTEHADE N AR AT S
TH1& 58K
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AT EN & 1,000 1,000
Staff costs (including directors’ B TR
remuneration): (RIEEEME) :
Wages and salaries and other benefits TERFEKEMER 19,860 18,152
Pension fund contributions RIRE IR 70 65
19,930 18,217
As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group RZZEZWF+_A=F+—BEKZ=ZE
had no material forfeited contributions available to reduce its TE=EF+ A=+ —H AEEVEY

contributions to the pension schemes in future years.

M SRERE R BRATSH ©

INCOME TAX CHARGE 10. FIEHEAX

3

The amount of taxation in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

A A AR F E AR ER R 51 &I 1

ARakEMEEKRERANHEAR

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEL
Current tax — the PRC BVERRITE —

Charge for the year REEER - -
Deferred tax charge (Note 20(a)) RIERIBER ST (B72F2003)) (29,689) (21,885)
Total income tax charge TS fiF (29,689) (21,885)
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the BAAREBARFELEERTREHN - &
Group did not have assessable profit for the year. WA BEBFERIELBE -

China Energy Development Holdings Limited FEg5R B 1 IRE PR A 7
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For the Year ended 31 December2024 HEZ —Z W&+ _-_A=+—HItFE

INCOME TAX CHARGE (continued)

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT") and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law in the PRC, the
statutory EIT rate in the PRC is 25% (2023: 25%). In accordance
with the approval from the local taxation bureau in the
PRC, certain PRC subsidiary of the Group were entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% (2023: 15%) for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The reconciliation between income tax charge and profit before
income tax is as follows:

10. Fﬁ' *EB‘%S‘Z\““

BRIBECEMGSHE((EMEHED
MBI EMSHREEMRGEL - RE
CEEREFMBMERL% (ZE =
F:25%)  RBBEFEEHWRE B 2HE
# AEBETHFEMNBRAARER
—ENF+_A=Z+—HLFES
BZHEEMEHBEI5% (ZE ==
F:15%) ©

PIT 15 154 B S B BR P A5 AR A it A 2 81 BR
LI

Profit before income tax

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates
applicable to profit in the respective
countries

Tax effect of income not taxable and
expenses not deductible

Tax loss previously recognised and revised

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not
previously recognised

Tax effect of unused tax losses not
recognised

Income tax charge for the year

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil), nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of reporting period.

2024 2023
—E-NE —E - =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
R PS5 F1 56,399 90,765
EEBBERaFEA 2
iR E 2 BiIR
8,829 13,044
BEZRBWA R0
A e B E 12,131 8,862
NERBEBEERIREE 8,464 -
AR ARERRIEEE .
g2 - (311)
RERZ R ARIBEEE
BrxeE 265 290
FNABRASZ 29,689 21,885

1. KA

HE_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HLFE
W RS BRNBRE (T - =F
C BRE BRI ERIREMARS -

Annual Report & #§ 2024 121



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B SRR R

For the Year ended 31 December2024 HZ - —UF+ - A =+—HILFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. BREF
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) EREARZEF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit ERERBIESRAREEA
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted A EMBRAFANEEITEBRR
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the BNk O BGTE -
year.
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEL
Profit attributable to owners of RNATHER ANEG G
the Company 27,344 69,529
Number of Shares
igvid 2 4=|
Weighted average number of ordinary BT E BRI
shares in issue EHE 10,893,486,077 9,505,344,000
HK Cents
AL
Basic earnings per share BRERRBF] 0.25 0.73
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For the Year ended 31 December2024 HEZ —Z W&+ _-_A=+—HItFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 12. SRER &)
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) BREERF
The calculation of the diluted earnings per share HE-_T_MNFR-_F = E
attributable to the owners of the Company for the years +TZA=+—HLEFE AR
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are based on the T?EEA%{EZHQ%‘/‘%@*UEE
following data: AT EURRTE -
2023
—EC_=4F
HK$'000
FET
Profit attributable to owners of the RNATHER ANEGET
Company 69,529
Adjustments for interest on convertible BT AR R B S
notes e 2 8% 11,663
Profit attributable to owners of the BEEREERNZ
Company for diluted earnings per share $ AR AR T 81,192
Number of
Shares
Bin g B
Weighted average number of ordinary EREITEERINE
shares in issue T8 9,505,344,000
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares A # % 2= % 7 /& 7£ #8
on convertible notes TRk wE 4,045,654,761
Weighted average number of ordinary SAEEREERN
shares for diluted earnings per share TR NAE 5 8 13,550,998,761
HK Cents
AL
Diluted earnings per share BRR#E AN 0.60
For the year ended 31 December 2024, diluted earnings HE-_Z-_M&E+-_A=+—H
per share is the same as basic earnings per share as the IEFE ARAUBRBRERER
potential ordinary shares on convertible notes are anti- TERARBENR WEk#
dilutive. SERNEGRERRFER -
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13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EEZ&
The emoluments of each director, equivalent to key EEE2He (HEREE
management compensation, are as follows: )T

EEANBM

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-F_ME+-A=1+-HLEFE

Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefit
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in-kind contributions remuneration
e 28 BRER
e REWANGE HELEEAR FEasE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Executive directors HTES
Zhao Guogjang HEE (KT _MmF
(Resigned on 30 April 2024) MA=+HEE) 601 253 - 854
Liu Dong AR (RE-mF
(Appointed on 30 April 2024) MA=+AWEME) 87 - - 87
Liu Wenxuan ZGE(RZT s
(Appointed on 19 July 2024) +tB+NEEEZE) 468 - - 468
Non-executive directors FHTES
Yan Danhua BNERZTZNE
(Appointed on 19 July 2024) tATABHEL) - - - -
Chen Jianxin BREHN (R=T-mE
(Appointed on 19 July 2024) +tAthBHEE) - - - -
Independent non-executive BIUFHTES
directors
Chin Ying Ying BRBN-_T-_NF
(Appointed on 20 December TZAZTRREE)
2024) 4 - - 4
Cheng Chun Ying HIRE(R=F=-F
(Resigned on 20 December +-A=-+HET
2024) 116 - - 116
Lee Man Tai N R 120 - - 120
Zhang Zhenming 5K Hx B 120 - - 120
1,769

1,516 253 -
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13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Executive directors
Zhao Guogiang

Non-executive directors
Gu Quan Rong
(Retired on 9 June 2023)

Independent non-executive
directors
Cheng Chun Ying
Lee Man Tai
Zhang Zhenming

e B A R R R

For the Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —Z - NF+—_A=+—HILFE

13.

BEECNE ®)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-=F+t-A=+-HLFE

Fees
we
HK$'000
FET
YTES
it B 5 1,482
EBTES
BN -B-=%
NANBRME) 93
BIFBTES
BIRE 120
N 120
IR 120

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme Total
in-kind  contributions  remuneration
Ec = 3= ERER
REMF= EEIMER Fijes
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
254 - 1,736
- - 93
- - 120
- - 120
- - 120

1,935

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
Nil). No emoluments were paid by the Company to the Directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company or
as compensation for loss of office during the year ended 31

December 2024 (2023: Nil).

254 - 2,189
HE-_Z-_NWF+—_A=+—HLFE "
BEZFERNEXRERETMABS (=
T =FE) HEZZT-_NFE+=
B=Z+—HILFE ARATERAES
5B DA IR B 45 0 A A £ [ Bk 1 & A0
ANESHBERAE(C T =% &) o
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14.

126

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
included one (2023: one) director whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments of
the remaining four (2023: four) individuals are set out below:

Salaries and allowances Fre KRR
Retirement benefit scheme contributions ROKEFET 8

The emoluments of the individual fall within the following band:

14.

REFMAL

RAFEE AEEBRE&SFHALE
B—R2(CZT_=F:—R)EF =M
é‘EEJﬁ@%EL‘X%BﬂJE’J’Wﬁ HERmM%
“Eo=F R AL ZHFMES
wmr

2024 2023
—EWEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
3,691 5,244

54 54

3,745 5,298

BAZHHMNFTHEE -

Number of individuals

EEAZ
2024 2023
—ENE ZEC=F
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 = Z 1,000,000 T 2 2
HK$1,000,000 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,000 7T = 1,500,000 7T 2
HK$2,500,000 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,000yt & 3,000,000 % 7T - 1

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments was paid or payable to the five highest paid
individuals (including Directors and other employees) as an
inducement to join the Group or as a compensation for loss of
office.

China Energy Development Holdings Limited F Bl /RBI 2 IR R AR A B
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y%  BERRE

Leasehold
landand  Leasehold Furniture Motor  Natural gas 0il  Construction
l{ﬂgging’; improvements  and fixtures vehicles pipeline properties in progress Total
1
REF RENEEE  GAREE g RAREE ba Lk fEIR i
HK$000 HK$000 HKS 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000
AT AL AT FAL AL FEr FAL AL
Cost HA
At1 January 2023 i
-A-H 56,300 2597 1,136 6,654 3412 1,466,070 39,365 1,605,534
Additions HE - - 1 - 493 271461 2814 30,829
Transfer &% - - - - - 528 (529) -
Exchange differences EXZE - (60) (33) (168) (1,198) (52617) (1427) (55,508)
At 31 December 2023 and S
1 January 2024 tZA=+-Bk
13
-A-H 56,300 2531 1,099 6,486 32,707 1,441,442 40,284 1,580,855
Additions RE - - 176 87 - 1,891 - 2,938
Transferred from exploration and - EZEHFR
evaluation assets (Note 17) JHBE - - - - - 256 - 25
Transfer £# - - - - - 38,798 (38,798) -
Writen off it - - (817) (120) - - - (937)
Bichange differences EXEE - (45) (19) (140) (909) (40,80) (394) (#2311)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+ZR
=f-H 56,300 2492 439 1,097 31,798 1,441,583 1,09 1,540,801
Accumulated depreciation and  E3HTERBfE
impairment
At1 January 2023 e
-A-A 3581 1489 %7 6,344 15,652 414,495 - 442528
Charge forthe year Emgd 1482 30 62 107 3,140 31,062 - 36,173
Provision of impairment HERE 938 - - - - 865 - 1803
Exchange differences Eizg - ) (34) (160) (589) (15,096) - (15,926)
At 31 December 2023 and no%z=
1 January 2024 tZA=+-Bk
e S
i 6,001 1,761 995 6,291 18,204 431,326 - 464,578
Charge for the year Engl 148 188 El} 629 3151 28428 - BIM
Witen off i - - (786) (116) - - - (902)
Provison of impairment AEEE 4,788 - - - - 433 - 9,121
Exchange differences EizE - (44) (10) (128) (565) (12,593) - (13,340)
At 31 December 2024 R-BZR
tZAZ1-H nm 1,905 33 6,676 20,790 451,494 - 493,369
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2024 R-2-mE
tZAZt-H 44,029 587 206 m 11,008 990,089 1,09 1,047,432
At 31 December 2023 i
t-A=1-H 50,299 716 104 195 14503 1,010,116 40,284 1116277
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15.

128

CRUE R

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount
of the Kashi Project (as defined and detailed in Note 18)
annually. These assets are used in the Group’ s Exploration,
Production and Distribution of Natural Gas segment. Provision
for impairment of HK$4,333,000 was recognised for 2024
(2023: provision for impairment of HK$865,000) as the carrying
amount of the related cash-generating unit (“CGU") for
the Kashi Project approximates its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount of the relevant assets of HK$2,031,791,000
has been determined on the basis of their value in use using
discounted cash flow method by APAC Asset Valuation and
Consulting Limited (“APAC”), an independent valuer. The pre-
tax discount rate used was 16.0% (2023: 16.8%).

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its
leasehold land and building. The reviews led to the recognition
of an impairment loss of HK$4,788,000 (2023: HK$938,000),
that has been recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable
amount of the relevant assets of HK$44,029,000 (2023:
HK$50,299,000) has been determined on the basis of their fair
value less costs of disposal using market approach (level 3 fair
value measurements) by APAC.

The key assumptions used in determining the recoverable
amount are as follows:

Period of projection T8 8] BABR

Gas prices (US$/m?) RIE (L, LK)
Annual production volumes (MMm?3) FEE(HHETZFK)
Inflation rate BARE

Pre-tax discount rate R ITIR X

China Energy Development Holdings Limited F Bl /RBI 2 IR R AR A B

15. ¥  BERRXE#®)

BFALEEHRMTEE (EELFER
MizE18) Z AR B FBHITHR - % T
BEEAR Aﬁﬁl%%ﬁﬁﬁsﬁ EER
DEDE e —E N FEREBERE
4,333,000/ 70 (Z 2 — =4 : BEIRAE
865,000/87T) * ARAR(TIAE MAEREE
sEAEM((REEEEN]) 2ERE
E AT Yg Bl & 88 - MHEEE Z A g
4 %82,031,791,0008 T v — R B L
FEEHAD  BAREETEREBERER AR
([EADFERRERESREBEREHE
BAEETUNETE -FAZBRIAIAEIRE
B160%(ZFE==4F :16.8%) °

$%%ﬁﬁi"ﬁiﬁﬂ&k“%27ﬂ&@é
BTG - BT 4 EINCAERES
4,788,000% 7T _7__¢ 938,000
EBL)EWRAERFRKIBARN - 5H
BERTES%E A 44,029,0008 T (=

— =4 :50,299,0007 7T) JhH 35 A
BIEMESEIRATFEEERELTUE

E o

T TE AT M B RE B 8 AR A RA SRR R AR 10
T

Assessment
performed on
31 December

Assessment
performed on
31 December

2024 2023
R-ZBE-_ME RZT-=F
+=ZHA=+—-8 +-—A=+—H
1T TR
2025-2039 2024-2039
0.135-0.209 0.139-0.218
431-1,100 458-1,100

2% 2%

16.00% 16.80%
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For the Year ended 31 December2024 HEZ —Z W&+ _-_A=+—HItFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Based on the assessment, the Group recognised a provision
for impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets of HK$4,333,000 and HK$4,554,000
respectively for the year.

If the forecast gas prices had been 5% lower than
management’s estimates, it would result in a increase in
provision for impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets of HK$74,368,000 and
HK$78,164,000, respectively.

If the annual production volume had been 5% lower than
management’s estimates, it would result in a increase in
provision for impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets of HK$58,313,000 and
HK$61,288,000, respectively.

If the pre-tax discount rate had been 1% higher than
management’s estimates, it would result in a increase in
provision for impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets of HK$54,422,000 and
HK$57,200,000, respectively.

15. ¥  BERRXE#®

HERHE  ARERAAFEEDE - K
FEh&HMEREEREBERED B
4,333,000 % 7T }2 4,554,000 7T, ©

RFERARBLEIRBEB LR 5%
EREBSENME  BEREZHBRER
BERBEREED R E74,368,000%8 7T &
78,164,000/ 7T °

BRINFESLEEBBARI5% &
RESENMWE BERSEBERELE
EREEE D B A58,313,000/8 T &
61,288,000 7T °

BROFATITIR R EIEEIE 1% &
REBESEMDERE R ERELE
ERE#EE D B &54,422,000%8 T &
57,200,000 7T °

Annual Report & #§ 2024 129



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B SRR R
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Disclosures of lease-related items:

At 31 December:
Right-of-use assets
— Land and buildings
— Motor vehicles

Lease commitments of short-term leases

The maturity analysis, based on
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s
lease liabilities is as follows:

— Less than 1 year
— Between 1 and 2 years

16. FHEEE

THEMBEER 2 HE -
2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
R+=-—BA=+—8":
FHRESE
— T REF 1,618 1,860
—qE - 3,863
1,618 5,723
EIMRE C THE R 110 3,167
AEEHEBEIREIEMNER
RensET2H A
DITWT
—DR1F 843 2,305
—1 B24F 1,016 907
1,859 3,212
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For the Year ended 31 December2024 HEZ —Z W&+ _-_A=+—HItFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

16. ERBEE

2024 2023
—E-MF T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=1+—HLEE:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets B E ZITEE A

— Land and buildings — T RIEF 1,149 5,650
— Motor vehicles —AE 2,311 3,516
3,460 9,166
Lease interests HERE 205 554
Expenses related to short-term leases EHERBAEEN TN 1,176 3,261
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLAR 1,978 2,001
Additions to right-of-use assets FTRAEEERE 2,086 2,512

The Group leases various land and buildings and motor vehicles.
Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to
3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

AREBHBAET I RBFUANRE -
HENMZ —METAH2E3F - HE
&R (BRI 2 5¢%Pﬁﬁﬂ%¥£&ﬂﬂ¢ﬂﬁ
TR - HEWZLEEINT M2 -
HELETS Fﬁflﬂﬁ%ﬁ'ﬁfﬁﬁuu °
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For the Year ended 31 December2024 HZ - —UF+ - A =+—HILFE

17. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 17. IERFELEE

2024 2023
—EF-NME —FC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost A
At 1 January m—H—H 256 265
Transferred to property, plant and BREME  BWENMEHE
equipment (Note 15) (Hfat15) (256) -
Exchange differences MEHZ5 - (9)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H - 256
Accumulated impairment ZiHE
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—AM+Z—A=+—8H - -
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H - 256

The exploration and evaluation assets represents costs directly
associated with exploratory wells (drilling cost and others)
that are capitalised and pending a determination of whether
sufficient quantities of potentially economic gas reserves have
been discovered.
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For the Year ended 31 December2024 HEZ —Z W&+ _-_A=+—HItFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost %

At 1 January m—H—H
Exchange differences M ZEEE

At 31 December R+ZA=+—H

Accumulated amortisation and ZET 8 RRE
impairment

At 1 January n—H—H
Amortisation BEaH
Provision of impairment BB R
Exchange differences MW R

At 31 December R+ZHA=+—H

Carrying amount FREE

At 31 December R+ZHA=+—H

The intangible assets represent the interests in the Petroleum
Contract which were amortised on unit of production method.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, amortisation of
HK$22,843,000 (2023: HK$25,872,000) was provided. Details
of the contract as described as below:

On 22 December 2008, China Era entered into the Petroleum
Contract with CNPC in relation to the drilling, exploration,
exploitation and production of oil and/or natural gas in North
Kashi Block, Tarim Basin in the PRC (the “Kashi Project”).
CNPC is a stated-owned company established in the PRC.

8. BILEE

2024 2023
—ENEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
2,608,278 2,704,881
(72,452) (96,603)
2,535,826 2,608,278
1,510,282 1,536,213
22,843 25,872
4,554 3,330
(42,463) (55,133)
1,495,216 1,510,282
1,040,610 1,097,996

B EEEARANEZ HIZEE
B FEH HE_T_MOF+=
A=Z+—BLFE Ciie#sEi
#%22,843,0008 L (=T = = F :

25,872,0007870) A #) 2 FEIEH M T

R-ZBEENFE+-_A-+-H HBEF
REFRBELMEIL T AMEH AR
BEEARZMETILERER - BK -
BB M AEE AR SHRAR ([B 1 E
B - hEAMEERRFBEKRINE
Bl
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18.

134

CRUE R

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Pursuant to the Petroleum Contract signed in December 2008,
China Era agreed to provide funds and apply its advanced
technology and managerial experience to cooperate with CNPC
for the development and production of crude oil and/or natural
gas in North Kashi Block on Tarim Basin in Xinjiang, the PRC.
The maximum term of the Petroleum Contract is 30 years from
1 June 2009, subject to extension.

Pursuant to Petroleum Contract, China Era shall bear all costs
required for the evaluation operations, and the development
costs shall be borne by CNPC and China Era in the proportions
of 51% and 49%, respectively. In addition, CNPC’ s portion of
operating costs shall be advanced by China Era and recovered
from the production of crude oil and/or natural gas.

Under the terms of the Petroleum Contract, the evaluation
costs, development costs and operating costs are to be
recovered according to a mechanism of cost recovery oil/gas
and investment recovery oil/gas. Remaining oil/gas, after cost
recovery, all applicable taxes and royalty that might apply in the
PRC, is share oil/gas, which is apportioned between 51% by
CNPC and 49% by China Era.

In March 2015, the Group has issued formal application to
CNPC to apply for a two-year extension of the exploration
period of the Kashi Project beyond the original deadline of 31
May 2015, as the exploration efforts in the cooperation site
has not been completed. On 6 December 2017, the Group and
CNPC entered into a supplemental agreement to extend the
exploration period.

China Energy Development Holdings Limited F Bl /RBI 2 IR R AR A B

8. B EEE &)

BRER-_ZZNF+ AR ZAME
% $!¢ﬁﬂﬁk1£é&fﬁﬁﬁ
ER R EEERETRAHRESE
VATA o B0 3 58 45 B2 K 22 10 g A1 4b [ 48 5
BEREERME/FIRAR - AHEL
ZEREFHRE-ZTNFA-HR
P30 MIRA TR -

RIEBEABREY  PRIFERBEAETHE
WAFEMBKA MAZEKAERF
HAdHEERFEFRDFIES% L
49% 2 LL I AEHE - fhoh - AR RS E
Frb 8 &R AN E0 0 FE R AR B SE BT -
Wi B A E B &SR AR o

REARE DG FHERAE - F#%
FRAS R 46 8 B AR ZEAR B A AR |1 Wom R
N A& BIWOR, R S U o Bt Uk =K
MR RERNEERARERE
FRHeRBZH "ihs  AoH0R,
RoAFELHEERTEFAI RIS
1551% K% 49% °

RZZE—hF=A AEERTEALH
SEEARENTHEFE: ARG ERR
N B REB R B 2 - E iRt
HEZHERARRIN-_FT—RFHA

=Tt HEHMPZARES REATD
B A m R E B F KSR ARERME -

R-T—tF+-ARB AEHEESD
B mEBE DRI i - LERE
REIR -
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The Group has been carrying out exploration and evaluation
activities at the site and working with professional parties to
prepare data and information that are required for the overall
development program (“ODP") for government approval
before full production could be started. Pursuant to the circular
published by the State Council of the People’s Republic of China
on 27 February 2019, the ODP is no longer required to be
approved by the National Development and Reform Commission
but is only subject to new filing requirements. Per the agreement
with CNPC, the commercial stage would be commenced when
(i) the construction infrastructure for gas production stated in
the Kashi project at Akemomu, North Kashi Block, Tarim Basin,
China (the “Akemomu Gas Field”) is completed and being
commenced for production for 90 days; or (ii) when the total
gas production volume in the Akemomu Gas Field reached
300,000,000 cubic meters of gas. The commencement date of
commercial stage would be confirmed and announced by joint
committee meeting afterwards. On 25 July 2019, the Group
received a resolution of the Joint Management Committee of
North Kashi Block Cooperation Project that the filing of the ODP
of the Akemomu Gas Field was completed on 8 July 2019 and
the development stage commenced from 9 July 2019. By the
resolution of the Joint Management Committee of North Kashi
Block Cooperation Project on 16 October 2020, the commercial
production stage was commenced with effect from 1 October
2020.

Note: Provision for impairment of HK$4,554,000 of intangible assets (2023:
provision for impairment of HK$3,330,000) was recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2024 as the recoverable amount of the
CGU for the Kashi Project exceeds its carrying amount. The recoverable
amount of the CGU for the Kashi Project was HK$2,031,791,000 (2023:
HK$2,148,652,000) based on value in use calculation using discounted
cash flow method (level 3 fair value measurements) and by reference to
the valuation report produced by APAC. The pre-tax discount rate used for
value in use calculations is 16.0% (2023: 16.8%) for the year ended 31
December 2024.

8. BMILEE &)

AEEB-—HEEMBEABBERTGHE
B RIEEBEZEATE NG THEEHE
FERMBEZEBERER  AEBATZEL -
HiEFeeFRE2EAE - REFEAR
HMBERERR -—_E—NE-_A=-++
E%%mLﬁ BRI R T R B TNAK
BERERMGEZEGHE  HEAFTA
HEMFHRT - BIFEFBE A AEEE]
T BEACBEREROMINF R
5 B R R (b [RS8 L E R ([f 52
BEARGH])MERMFIEERAAANKAR
AEEMEREIEERITREINAH
() EMERERTHMNRARBES =
300 000,00037 75 oK - B LB R A

HEEZBERBAZES SR BT
& HmoRNZE-—NhF+tA=-+HH"
K%lWﬂ@ﬁﬁEﬁAﬁﬁa%éa
BEEeREG WMaEARREBBERE
ﬁ§ﬂ %—nitﬂﬂam&ﬁ F

TR ZE-NFEANAREAR
%%& EF_$_$¢+H+AE@
ﬁﬂEﬁAWEH%é4ﬁ§AE R
EEREEAESAR —EF+A—
B -

Met - HRBHEERSELENZATKEEE
SREREEE WMREE-_T-_NF+=
A=+ BLEE#REREERER
%4,554,0008 T (Z T =4 : REHE
3,330,000/ 7C) c B TEA 2 REELER
{72 AU el 458 4 2,031,791,000 8 T (= F
Z =4 :2,148,652,000/7T) * 2 REIE
AR eREx (E=-HQAFEET2)
BEEAEENERZ2EZDTARRNGEE
HEEF -BHE_T-_WF+-_A=+—H
IHFE  sTEERBEMRAOTRATIRE
516.0% (ZE =4 :168%) °
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 18. B EE (©)
(a) Result for the year (a) NEEX£E
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has REBE_ZT-_MF+_A=1+—

recognised revenue approximately of HK$282,777,000
(2023: HK$316,370,000) from the sales of natural gas
arising from its interests in a Petroleum Contract and
the profit before income tax for the year for the sales of
natural gas was approximately HK$87,974,000 (2023:
profit before income tax of HK$115,374,000).

ALEFE ASEERAKXREER

BREHNZEBEEZHEERA
TR 4)282,777,00008 ¢ (= F
— =4 :316,370,000/8 7T) K& F
NEERARZBRB AR N A
87,974,000 L (ZEZ=F :
FSRi AT ) 115,374,000 7T) °

(b) Assets and liabilities (b) EERERE
2024 2023
—E-NF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEL
Property, plant and equipment e & 991,629 1,050,740
Exploration and evaluation assets MR RFIHEE - 256
Intangible assets mEAE 1,040,610 1,097,996
Deferred tax assets BEERIEEE - 321
Current assets MEEE 155,445 102,353
Current liabilities nBEE (313,234) (268,954)
Non-current liabilities ERBELE (996) (210,414)
Net assets BEFE 1,873,454 1,772,298
() Commitments (c) #&iE
2024 2023
—E-MF T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Capital commitments: BREHE
Contracted but not provided for ERIHERF TS
in respect of: FIERH -
— Property, plant and equipment —WE- BELEEER
and exploration and evaluation B IR B ATl A 2
expenditures 470 1,945
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. RINB R R 2 E#=
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at AABRZE_NF+_A=+—HZ
31 December 2024 are as follows: TEMBARZHBOT -
Country/
Form place of Issued and
of business incorporation/  Country/place fully paid Percentage of
Name structure establishment ~ of operation Principal activities share capital interests held
B AV
AL EXERTS RIBE/ 4% BEEX/4E ITER BRTRMERE RERREAY
Directly  Indirectly
BR f
China Energy Resources Holdings Ltd  Limited liability company - Hong Kong Hong Kong Sales of food and Ordinary share HK§ 1 100% -
beverages and
investment holding
hEERERERAT ERAT [ Bk %ﬁ%ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ%%& TERET
REBR
Totalbuild Investments Group Limited liability company  British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong Investment holding Ordinary share US$1 100% -
(Hong Kong) Limited
LEREEE(ER) ARAT ERAT ZBRREE PR REZK LEkzn
China Era Energy Power Investment ~ Limited liability company - Hong Kong PRC Oil'and gas exploration  Ordinary share HK§ 1 - 100%
(Hong Kong) Limited
TEERERRE (BB ARAA  ARRA B ke RRER LEkvEn
Zhong Neng Finance Limited Limited liability company  Hong Kong Hong Kong Money lending Ordinary share HK§ 1 - 100%
hEEERRAA BRAH [ Bk i LERk AT
Di Maria Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment holding Ordinary share - 100%
HK$10,000
EEHEERAT ERAT [ Bk REBR EBR10,000%7T
Team Lucky Development Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment holding Ordinary share HKS2 - 100%
TREERARAT ERAT B Bk RELER TEkET
Fortune Great Limited Limited liability company - Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment holding Ordinary share HK§ 1 - 100%
BERRAT ERAT &k &k RELER LakET
RABKEERACIBRAE  Limited lability company PRC PRC Investment holding Registered capital - 51%
(Karamay Fuhai Petroleum Chemical RMB5,000,000
Engineering Co., Limited)*
RARKESRACIARRA  ARAA hEl hEl REBR AMERARE
5,000,0007
RUBKERRR BRAT Limited liabiity company ~ PRC PRC Distribution of natural ~ Registered capital - 2601%
(Karamay Weirun Gas Co., Limited)* gas RMB130,000,000
RAUBKEERRERAR BRAH alet ale PERAR AMERARS
130,000,000 7
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the ZEM B R RN FE R EBEITEMES
end of the year. FEH o
*  The English names are for identification only * BXEBEHRBF
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20. DEFERRED TAXATION 20. IRIEF IR
(@) The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (a) FARGAMBERIEPER
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial ELERBEEE, (AR KI5
position and the movements during the year are as REBMT
follows:
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) arising from: BT EEE, (BB ELA
Exploration
costs Tax losses Total
Bh 4R B A BEER W
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
(Note)
(Hia)
At 1 January 2023 R-ZZBE-_=F—H—H (10,737) 33,557 22,820
Charged to profit or loss FFAFAERE
during the year (note 10) (Brax10) (9,104) (12,781) (21,885)
Exchange differences PE W Z%E 467 (1,081) (614)
At 31 December 2023 and RZZE-_=F+=A
1 January 2024 = ‘1'— A&
—E_MFE—-H—H (19,374) 19,695 321
Charged to profit or loss FFAFAERE
during the year (note 10) (Krat10) (16,646) (13,043) (29,689)
Exchange differences PE W Z=%8 849 (303) 546
At 31 December 2024 R=-Z-MF
+=—A=+—H (35,171) 6,349 (28,822)
Note: Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) represented deductible/taxable Wit BERBEEE,/ (AR REXERE

temporary difference in relation to exploration and evaluation
activities in the PRC and the recoverability depends on the future
profitability of the Kashi Project.

Bz B R BT R B 2 B B AT 40
B TERTERE - M AT e R
BAEE ZARRBFEES

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances E’JL B 75 BB 3R B #Y 2 R XE B 18 45
for financial reporting purposes: DA -

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Deferred tax assets BRI EE - 321
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEEE (28,822) -
(28,822) 321

138 China Energy Development Holdings Limited F Bl /RBI 2 IR R AR A B



Notes to the Consolidated Finqncial Statements

e B A R R R

For the year ended 31 December2024 2 —Z W&+ _—_A=+—HItFE

20. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative Hong Kong tax losses of
approximate HK$21,488,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: HK$17,291,000) as it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction of the
entity. The Hong Kong tax losses will not expire under the
current relevant tax legislation.

10% PRC dividend withholding tax would be payable on
the distribution of undistributed profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC. As at 31 December
2024 and 2023, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised as the Group’s PRC subsidiaries have no
undistributed profits.

21. ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES

FERL IR ()
(b) RERELEHREE

AREBTERN S -MNFE+ =
A=+ —HEREFABBEHMEBIELY
21,488,000 L (Z T == :
17,291,000 70) RIELEHIEE
E REAAREBER ZHEBHRIER
EEBTKAIGEEEAHEZEES
B2 RRERBEF - RIFEIFIT
HEB L BAMEBEE TS

Elp

R EB AL 10% 51 20 K 7 B A
2B A B 2 R R A AR
TEERSEEMR -R_FT_M4F

rA—ZF-_=F+-A=+—8H"
ARAREZHENERRLE
AR IEE R - BEERE HE
EFIRAME -

21. EWERFK

Account receivables (Note (a))
— Sales of natural gas

Loan and interest receivables (Note (b))
— Others

Less: Expected credit losses

2024 2023
—EE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
FEMBR IR (K2t (a)

—HERAR 116,251 49,650

JERE R F B (K:F b))
—HA 37,100 37,100
153,351 86,750
B TBEEEEE (37,100) (37,100)
116,251 49,650
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21.

140

CRUE R

ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note (a):  Sales of natural gas represent the receivables recognised under the
production sharing contract with CNPC for the Group’s operation in
Kashi, the PRC. The Group recognises the revenue in relation to this
operation during the current year. Sales to customer is normally made
with credit terms of 30 to 60 days. The entire balance of account
receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, based on the invoice
dates, are not yet past due. The Group did not hold any collateral over
the balance.

The balance of sales of natural gas are non-interest bearing. The
account receivables in the amount of approximately HK$113,397,000
are pledged to secure the Group’s other borrowing as at 31 December
2024 (2023: HK$48,320,000).

Note (b):  Loan receivable from an independent third party, Sing Pao Media
Enterprises Limited (“Sing Pao”), which was unsecured, interest-
bearing at 1% per month and repayable within 1 year have been
fully impaired during the year ended 31 December 2011. The loan
receivable from Sing Pao is secured by a personal guarantee of a third
party.

Sing Pao’s shares were listed on the SEHK but was delisted on 18
August 2015. During the year ended 31 December 2015, a winding-
up order was made against Sing Pao and the Group has already
submitted proof of debt form to liquidator of Sing Pao on 7 January
2016. On 2 November 2017, the Group’s legal advisor was informed
by the liquidator that the process of realisation of assets of Sing Pao
was completed and there was unlikely to be any surplus assets for
distribution to creditors (including the Company) after payment of the
costs of the liquidation.

The aging analysis of account receivables at the end of the
reporting period, presented based on the revenue recognition
dates, and net of allowance, is as follows:

Within 3 months —EAR

More than 3 months but within 6 months = 1& A LA _E{B7<{E A i
More than 6 months but within 1 year NEAEE—FR
More than 1 year —FE

China Energy Development Holdings Limited F Bl /RBI 2 IR R AR A B

JE W BR K (

Hret(a) -

et b) «

AARHERBRERPELAAEET L
ZEEDKEHRAEERREAEMTZ
XBERZ EYGRIE - AEBMUAFE
RZEBHERRE -ARFIEHOEE
—MRIZ30E60 AMEEHMT - ERE
EAMMERFBZ BEHRR TN
ER-_ZE-_=F+_A=+—HIE®SR
H o AREE W B AR A TAERR o

AARWEEZHEBBTE R T
—ME+=ZA=+—H - 4113,397,000
BT ERERDEE AR EEHL M
B2 ER(ZF — =4 48,320,000
7T e

R —EBLE= A REEEERR
AR ([RB) ERAEIEE - ZETAF
K% B WAR—FRNEE &K
HEREBEZE-_ZT——F+=ZA=+—H
IFFEREAE BRKBERE—F
FE=FREAEREEIR o

PR D 2 A BE R AT BT IR =
E-RFNATN\EHRE-BE_Z
—AFFT A=t BLEFE  KRE
BTERS MAKETER-F—X
F-AEHBKBRABEEARRERE
AR -R_TE—tF+—HA=-H K&
B EEBRBEERASH  KBRNE
EERC K XNBERRARTER
HREEAHI K TERA (BEART])
B AT BE AR -

FEMR R s AR E N U s #ERR B AR
ZFRES ML D IBREEDT

2024 2023
—EE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
54,046 49,650
12,537 -
46,518 -
3,150 -
116,251 49,650
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22.
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

23.

Equity securities, at fair value
Listed in Hong Kong

Fair value of listed equity securities
based on quoted market price
(level 1 fair value measurement)

Analysed as:
Current assets

BAFE S (B RFEER)
R&EE LT

ERMEHREZ L™
BAES RN FER
(F—ARFEEFE)

DM
MENEE

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are based on their current bid price in an active market.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Refundable deposit
Mr. Wang Jian Guo (note (a))

Less: Expected credit losses
Refundable deposit (note (a))
Other receivables and deposits

%A PEBHABSZ SR

BE
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
14,776 27,251
14,776 27,251
14,776 27,251

BAVEBEAANEGZZEREEZRT
BEDERENEEMS 2 BKRE -

H b EUTRIR ~ 7] & R TR IR

(K17t (@)
REET 2
FTREEE (Hit@)

B RHEEER
FREETE (B it @)
H i EUGRIA R IR ®

23. HMEWRE - BERBANARK

15

2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
20,700 28,941
20,725 20,725
41,425 49,666
(20,725) (20,725)
(5,198) (5,198)
(25,923) (25,923)
15,502 23,743
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23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

142

Movement in the expected credit losses in respect of other
receivables and deposits is as follows:

Balance at 1 January
Provision of expected credit losses

during the year, net

Balance at 31 December

Note (a):

China Energy Development Holdings Limited Bl &

On 24 September 2007, Mr. Wang Jian Guo, an independent third
party and Joy Even International Limited (“Joy Even”), a subsidiary
of the Group, entered into the agreement in relation to the proposed
acquisition of the 51% equity interest in each of the target companies,
Bu Tuo County Wu Zhou Minerals Limited Liability Company (77 #& &
FMBEEA R ET2AF) and Hui Li County Wan Feng Mining Limited
Liability Company (& 12 % & L5 ¥ AR & (T2 7)) of an aggregate
consideration of RMB498 million (equivalent of HK$516 million)
(the “Agreement”). Both companies are limited liability companies
established in the PRC. The principal activities of both companies
are in the development of mines in the PRC. A refundable deposit
of HK$20,725,000 was paid (equivalent to RMB20,000,000) to Mr.
Wang Jian Guo upon signing of the agreement. On 31 July 2008, the
Company executed the Deed of termination regarding the proposed
acquisitions, whereby subject to the return of the refundable deposit,
both parties shall be released and discharged from their respective
obligations under the Agreement. On 10 March 2011, Joy Even issued
a Writ of Summons against Mr. Wang Jian Guo claiming the principal
and interest on the refundable deposits. On 18 June 2013, the Court
of First Instance adjudged that Mr. Wang Jian Guo shall pay to Joy
Even the sum of RMB22,723,287 or Hong Kong Dollar equivalent. All
of the refundable deposits were fully impaired in previous years.

MN—HA—BZ#ER
FRABEEREES

RTZA=+—RZ&ERH

RABZERAERD R

HEWRE - BERBEIRK

g1
IE (4&)

BEMERFENRLS ZEBEER
BEBHNT

2024 2023

—EE —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FET

25,923 24,368

- 1,555

25,923 25,923

Mt @) -

RZZTTLFNAA=ZF+MA - TEBE%
£ BYE=F) B IEREERA A
(TBEIE]) (A& @2 M B A R :T S ek
(IZWBZE)  NEEEEERBEEEZA
AMEGANBEEARETARRGE
BEUYRBEARETAASHZ51%K
- B RE A AR 498,000,000 T (£
{E516,000,000/87T) ° M A& H A
RABKRY ZERETAR - MERF]
ZEBEBHARPERERS - A&
BEEREHERAIZR LA TN
A] 3R [B 7] 4 20,725,000 7T (ZEAR
#20,000,0007T) - R=ZZEZNF+ A
=+—B - ARARFLARERWNES
B2 RE I AR ERREET
e EHHRSERZBEZET R
—E——fF=ZA+B HIERATERL
ERHEASK BRI AREKS ZA
LEME -R-_T—=FXA+N\B"
FAVERE R T AL A B RIES
SHEAR22,723287 L EEB T °
AR EE S E AR EEWRE -
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24. Hi A RER B RIE
2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current: TRED
Property, plant and equipment/exploration 1% - BE M &R &
and evaluation cost payables (Note (a)) b TR (B it (@) 66,181 77,256
Other payables and accruals (Note (b)) H fth JE AT 018 K JE 5T 3R IE
(K1 b)) 43,439 47,785
109,620 125,041
Note (a):  Property, plant and equipment/exploration and evaluation cost Hiat (@) WERAMBIRERM T 15 RI7TARE -9
payables represent balances payable to contractors engaged by the ¥ MR RGBS R R R R A
Group to perform exploration, evaluation and development works on EREMNTASEZE RAMEGHETE
the area designated in the Petroleum Contract as disclosed in Note 15 ZBRIBETHER FHERAEIEZY
and Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements. B AR o
Note (b):  Included above are the receipt in advance from CNPC amounted to Hiatp): LMIBEBEREPEGHER ZERK
HK$11,678,000 (2023: HK$9,413,000). FIE /11,678,000 7T (Z T Z =4 -

9,413,000 7T) °
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25. LEASE LIABILITIES

Within one year
In the second to fifth years,
inclusive

Less: Future finance charges

Present value of lease liabilities

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months (shown
under current liabilities)

Amount due for settlement after
12 months

At 31 December 2024, the average effective borrowing rate was
8.28% (2023: 8.44%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract
dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

N
F_EEELF
(BRERMSF)

B ARBEER

HERECRE

W12 AREIHEE
ZEB(RRE

BEETIITR)

R1I2EARBHEE L
k|

26. BALANCE WITH RELATED PARTY

Amount due to a shareholder

The amount due a shareholder is unsecured, at fixed interest
rate of 5% per annum (2023: Nil) and repayable on demand.
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. HEAE
Present value Present value
of lease Lease of lease
payments payments payments
HEMR MERH
ZHEE HER® ZHE
2024 2023 2023
—EBomE T ZFZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
724 2,305 2,182
996 907 894
1,720 3,212 3,076
(136)
3,076
(724) (2,182)
996 894

R-ZT-m&E+=—A=+—8 FH
B ORI B828% (CE-=F
8.44%) « FIEVRA WA MERE - 3
RS A4 e W i 2 T B A R AR

B N = 2 FEER

B —BRRMIA

BN —RBRFEREER  UEEF
f'JT5%(f TEFE) REREX
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27. OTHER BORROWINGS HhfE &

2024 2023
—E-NF —E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEL
Secured other borrowings BEREMEER 203,700 353,160
Unsecured other borrowings EEREMEE 58,108 -
261,808 353,160

Repayable: JEfEE -
Within one year or on demand —FRHIREK 261,808 143,640
In the second year NE—F - 209,520
261,808 353,160

The other borrowings were denominated in RMB. Included
in the other borrowing as an amount of RMB194,000,000
(Equivalent to HK$203,700,000) (2023: RMB327,000,000)
charging at an interest rate of 8.5% per annum, repayable
partly in 2 years and fully in 3 years from the drawdown
date and pledged by the account receivables of the Group
(Note 21) under the Petroleum Contract dated 22 December
2008, the supplemental contract dated 6 December 2017,
the second supplemental contract dated 20 June 2019 and
the gas sales agreement dated 27 April 2020. In addition, the
rights of natural gas sharing amount and sales revenue under
the product sharing agreement and the sales agreement were
pledged as security for the other borrowings as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

At 31 December 2024, the other borrowings of RMB55,341,000
(Equivalent to HK$58,108,050) (2023: Nil) is borrowed from
the subsidiaries of substantial shareholder, the other borrowing
is unsecured, at fixed interest rate of 3.45% per annum and
repayable on 31 December 2025.

HEMEEAARKSE B5EEME
B+ %A AR 194,000,000 (51E
203,700,000 7L) (ZTE=Z=F : AR
¥ 327,000,000 7T) S F FI E8.5% -
Q?%ﬁzaf&ziﬁq%%—ﬁﬁ1ﬁ&3¢
NEE2ZT WREBHA-ZZTNF
+ZA=Z+ZHZAEHAEY AfA=
T—+F+ A NBz@HEEY BE
BIE-NFANAZTHZEZ_HHER
WEABHAZZTE_EFHNA=-+t
H 2 & R 155 LA AN 5 B e UK AR SR 13 3R
(BFFE21) o AN RN EFER-Z
—ZF+-AZ=t—H ESOoKWHE
MESERHRE N2 RAR DK &5 K
EWAEFERIBEEMEE 2R -

R-oE-—_mWE+—_A=+—H H
& & A R#55,341,000C (£ &
58,108,050/ L) (Z T =4 + &) ¢
BABRREZFTRBIER  ZEMETL
BT FRIEFEFE345% RIEZF
—“hRE+-A=1+—RHREE-
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28.

146

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 22 January 2009, the Company, Totalbuild Investments
Holdings Group Limited (the “Vendor”), Mr. Wang Guoju,
as guarantor and beneficial owner of the entire issued share
capital of the Vendor, China Era, as a guarantor for the
Vendor, entered into the agreement (the “Agreement”) in
relation to proposed acquisition of 100% equity interest in
Totalbuild Investments Group (Hong Kong) Limited (“Totalbuild
Investments”). Totalbuild Investments held the entire issued
share capital of China Era which had entered into the Petroleum
Contract with CNPC as disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

On 3 January 2011, all the conditions of the acquisition of the
first designated area of the Akemomu Gas Field (the “First
Designated Area”) and the entire issued share capital (the
“Acquisition”) of Totalbuild Investments and its subsidiaries (the
“Totalbuild Investments Group”) have been fulfilled.

As a result of completion of the Acquisition and the First
Designated Area, the Tranche 1 consideration in the sum of
HK$2,558,000,000 was paid by the Company with Tranche 1
convertible notes of HK$2,558,000,000 at the conversion price
of HK$0.168 each, to the Vendor including the shortfall amount
of HK$1,279,000,000 which was deposited with an escrow
agent pursuant to the Agreement. The sale loan consideration
payable by the Company in the sum of HK$906,299,000
was satisfied by deducting the deposit in the sum of
HK$804,000,000 and with the balance of HK$102,299,000 to
be settled in cash or otherwise agreed.

China Energy Development Holdings Limited F Bl /RBI 2 IR R AR A B

28. ATRARKREE

R-IEBEZAFE—A-+=-H &A"F-
HEFEZERER AT ([ER]) REEH
EXE(ERBEFAZERARBEFZH
BRETRACZEREEA)  FEHEER
(EBEF 2ERA) SEEZ IS L A%
BEE(FB)ERAR(HARKRE]) 2
100% XA HE = M a] 37 Whee ([ i ]) o
HEFEERFEFRFR 2D BT
A AP BEFRERBEABREEDE]
N TARBEH (NGREMBRENE S
Fr#g8) -

R-E——F—A=0 WEXMRZE
REHzE—HEME ((F—EEH®
B RAAKREREMNB AR ([HAR
BEEm) 22 B TRA((KRES
B]) 2 R B IR EEEM

AR TREEEERE —EEHE -
WARREZRSRERE0168E T
M & #1758 —#£2,558,000,000%
TTZABIREE U HE—#RE
2,558,000,0007% 7T (B IEC 1B & &
HFRRFEERERNZ%1,279,000,000
BIL) o ARBEMZEEERR
f€906,299,000/8 7t B & @ A& %
£ 804,000,000 st mE 1 M & 58
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28. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

According to the Agreement, the shortfall amount of
HK$1,279,000,000 convertible notes (“Shortfall Notes”)
should only be released to the Vendor upon the Company
having received a written certificate issued by the competent
evaluator confirming that the First Designated Area be
evaluated on the basis of unrisked economic evaluation on or
before 31 May 2015 (the “Relevant Period”). No such written
certificate was received by the Company on or before 31 May
2015. Under the terms of the Agreement, the Shortfall Notes
have been returned to the Company for cancellation. During
the year ended 31 December 2015, a gain of HK$92,459,000
was recognised in profit or loss, and approximately
HK$1,309,405,000 related to equity component of the
convertible notes have been transferred from convertible notes
reserve to accumulated losses as the result of the cancellation of
convertible notes.

In addition, according to the Agreement, the Group is not
entitled to the benefits and interests of the second designated
area in the Akemomu Gas Field. A separate shareholders’
approval will be required for the Acquisition of the second
designated area by issuing additional convertible notes of not
more than HK$7,442,000,000 subjected to the fulfillment of
certain conditions as stipulated in the Agreement within the
Relevant Period.

The Tranche 1 zero coupon convertible notes with principal
amount of HK$2,558,000,000 with maturity in 30 years was
issued on 3 January 2011. The convertible notes do not bear
any interest and are freely transferable, provided that where the
convertible notes are intended to be transferred to a connected
person (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Group (other than
the associates of the noteholder) such transfer shall comply with
the requirements under the Listing Rules and/or requirements
imposed by the SEHK, if any.

28. AR ERE &)

RIEZ I - =%41,279,000,000 702
AR ER((ZEERDEATRART
BWEREFGEMBELEMEEERE
—EEHERER - E—RAFRA=1T—
Hok Bl ([EREIR ) BRI mE R
S EEF % - FAIERRR c ARAR
—E—RAFRA=t+—HsZATWEE
%ﬁﬁiﬁma RIEZ 2GR
HERBERBARMEFHE HEZT
—£¢+*H:+f5¢¢ﬁ AT
AT HREEMRNESER K
92,459,000/ 7T - AJ R BB E R I 5
B8 2~ #91,309,405,000 3 7T . B A] #4
KREEH#HEEBREREGAE -

AN - RIBEZ S - NS B mERN
BEARREE e E R R Mg o
NE AR ERZIBEER B THEY
1% # 1T T B 38 7,442,000,000% T 2 58
%ﬂ%%%ﬁu%%%*%imﬁ’ﬁ
REVSB R R AR - FalEE

FHTZEABRBRERLASEAR
2,558,000,000 78 T » AT R A% 48 2 B 25
BAMTEE-_ZT——F— =Bt
=tFEm e TRBREERETTERA S
HEE EWNTRBREERREETER
BEABEALUIINZ REEREALT
(FEEREMKRA) - AIEBEEREAETS
EREZRER,/ KX EEZR
E(nA) -

Annual Report & #§ 2024 147



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE B SRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &= —ZE —NFE+_—_A=+—HILFE

28.

148

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The noteholders may at any time during the 30 years from the
issue date convert the whole or part of the principal amount of
the convertible notes into new ordinary shares of the Company
at the conversion price of HK$0.168 per share, provided that
(i) no conversion rights attached to the convertible notes may
be exercised, to the extent that following such exercise, a
holder of the convertible notes and parties acting in concert
with it, taken together, will directly or indirectly, control or be
interested in 30% or more of the entire issued shares of the
Company (or in such percentage of the issued share capital of
the Company as may from time to time be specified in the Hong
Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers as being the level for
triggering a mandatory general offer); and (ii) no holder of the
convertible notes shall exercise the conversion right attached to
the convertible notes held by such holders if immediately after
such conversion, the public float of the shares fall below the
minimum public float requirement stipulated under Rule 8.08
of the Listing Rules as required by the SEHK. The conversion
price of HK$0.168 per share is subject to adjustment for
consolidation, sub-division or reclassification of shares, capital
reduction, rights issues and other events which have diluting
effects on the issued share capital of the Company.

The fair values of the liability component and the equity
component were determined at the issuance of the convertible
notes. The fair value of the liability component, included in the
non-current liabilities, was calculated using a market interest
rate of equivalent non-convertible notes. The effective interest
rate of the liabilities component is 11% per annum and the
interest expenses will be charged to profit or loss over the
loan periods. The equity component of the convertible notes,
representing the difference of the fair value of the convertible
notes and the fair value of the liabilities component, was
included in the owner’s equity and denoted as convertible notes
reserves.
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28. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The movement of the principal amount, liability component and
equity component of the convertible notes are as follows:

28. AR ERE &)

THRBREASE  BEHD REREH
S BEBWT :

Carrying amount

BREE

Liability Equity

component component

BEHS EEID

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEIT FET

As at 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—H—H 107,789 695,828

Interest expenses (Note 8) MBS (HFE8) 11,663 -
As at 31 December 2023 and 5(\777_¢—1— A=+—HK

at 1 January 2024 —ZE-NFE—HF—H 119,452 695,828

Interest expenses (Note 8) FMERZ (Hats) 8,636 -

Conversion Hig (82,625) (457,504)

As at 31 December 2024 R-B-MFE+=-A=+—H 45,463 238,324

Up to 31 December 2023, convertible notes with principal
amount of HK$599,330,000 have been converted into ordinary
shares of the Company. On 24 June 2024, convertible notes
with principal amount of HK$446,880,000 were converted
into a total of 2,660,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each
in the share capital and share premium of HK$407,129,000
was recognised in the Company. Upon the completion of the
conversion, the Company released convertible notes reserve of
HK$457,504,000.

The convertible notes with outstanding principal amount of
HK$232,790,000 (2023: HK$679,670,000) as at 31 December
2024 and have maturity date falling 30 years from the date of
issue on 3 January 2011.

BEE-_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—8"
7N 4 %8 /599,330,000 7T 2 A] # j%
ZEEEHEBRAARREBR K=
E-MFEFANAZtNE ATBBRE
8 7N 4 446,880,000 78 JT i B 48 5t
2,660,000,000 & 3@ % & % % & (& 0.05
7 T B I 2255 (8 407,129,000 78 JT i 57
AEARRA  SERRLIRIE - KRB
o AT 0 I 2 4 vk 1 457,504,000 8 7T °

R-_ZE-_WNFE+_A=+—8  A[#k
EE 2 REE KL% A232,790,000%8
T (ZE - =%:679,670,000/& 7T) -
mE A AETH (I ZE——F— A
—H)BFIM=TF -
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29. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each
At 1 January and 31 December

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each
At 1 January
Issue of share upon conversion of
convertible notes

At 31 December

EE

ERAB0SETZEBR
B—A-Bk
+-A=+-1

BRORAR:
BREE0SET ERK
R—A-H
RAVARZBEALER

W+=A=+—H
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29. BRAS
2024 2023
—ECmE —E-oCF

Number Amount Number Amount

of shares of shares
RAOEE &5 king 8 Ec
HKS'000 HK$'000
FET FET
25,000,000,000 1,250,000  25,000,000,000 1,250,000
9,505,344,000 475,267 9,505,344,000 475,267
2,660,000,000 133,000 - -
12,165,344,000 608,267 9,505,344,000 475,267
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30. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets kRBEE

Interests in subsidiaries R B AR Z S
Current assets REEE

Financial assets at fair value through #EAFEE ABIFZ

profit or loss TREE
Other receivables, deposits and HEMEWEIE  Zek
prepayments TERTRIE

Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHEH
Current liabilities RBAE

Other payables and accruals Efth & T 5RIE K B ETR0IE

Amount due to a shareholder JE — B R FIE
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE (BB BERE
Total assets less current liabilities EEZEHABAE
Non-current liabilities FERBEE

Convertible notes R IR
Net assets EEFE
Equity &

Share capital A& 7=

Reserves 1
Total equity BER

The financial statement was approved and authorised for issue
by the board of Directors on 28 March 2025.

Liu Don
2w

Director
EE=a

“EHEFET_A=T—HLFE

30. R A BB AR R T

2024 2023
—EZNF —E-=F

Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
ok:a FET FET
1,557,567 1,554,812

1,557,567 1,554,812

14,776 27,251

1,063 858

767 6,932

16,606 35,041

658 1,124

29,569 29,635

30,227 30,759

(13,621) 4,282

1,543,946 1,559,094

45,463 119,452

________ 45463 119,452
1,498,483 1,439,642

29 608,267 475,267
31 890,216 964,375
1,498,483 1,439,642

EEeRN T -_RF=A -+ N\Bi#LE

T 3%
Liu Wenxuan
Elpg::d

Director
EEa
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31. RESERVES

152

(a)

(b)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements

31. f#fE
(a) &x&H
AEEHELCEREEDNE

therein are presented in the consolidated statement S B =R E M E R & & A RER
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and AREREEFERANET -
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Company (b) AR
Convertible
Contributed Share notes Accumulated
surplus premium reserve losses Total
BH CE:
RARH RAEE REERE E4) 2| @it
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=%
—H—H 91,349 1,679,187 695,828 (1,479,620) 986,744
Total comprehensive loss AEEREBAR
for the year Fak - - - (22,369) (22,369)
At 31 December 2023 N ——
+-RA=+—H 91,349 1,679,187 695,828 (1,501,989) 964,375
Total comprehensive loss AEEREEAR
for the year k) - - - (23,784) (23,784)
Issue of share capital upon ABRTARERY
conversion of convertible BATRM RA
notes - 407,129 (457,504) - (50,375)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-WE
+=ZB=+-H 91,349 2,086,316 238,324 (1,525,773) 890,216
Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group rEEFEBHERB R
Contributed surplus BEHRAEES

The contributed surplus represents the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in
exchange for the issued share capital of the subsidiaries
and the value of the underlying assets of the subsidiaries
pursuant to the Group Reorganisation on 17 January
2002.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account is distributable to the shareholders
of the Company under certain circumstances. It represents
the excess of the nominal value of shares issued by the
Company.

China Energy Development Holdings Limited R E

ERBRABBRIIRE_FTT_F
—ATEtAAKEESHER AN
RIH B QA 2 BT IR %
T2 ARRAIRA 2 HE KK B
A2 A EEEME ZE5

B33 18

REREHRERREAZHRTE K
EEREETERATADIKT
RAB PR = B0 B 45 8 A
NEIEHETHROEE R -
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31. RESERVES (continued)

(b) Company (Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group

(Continued)

Convertible notes reserve

The convertible notes reserve represents the equity
component of the convertible notes issued (i.e. option to
convert the note into share capital).

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

Contracted but not provided for

in respect of:

— property, plant and equipment
and exploration and evaluation
expenditures

— capital contribution in a subsidiary

The Group had capital commitments of approximately
HK$470,000 (of which approximately HK$240,000 would be Bt KARD DT
borne by CNPC) (2023: HK$1,945,000 of which approximately
HK$1,001,000 would be borne by CNPC) and HK$110,198,000
(2023: HK$113,346,000) as at 31 December 2024 in respect of

31. R @)
(b) AR &)

(%)

A #2 IR R IR 1

AR EERE) -

32. EAREIE

2024
—E-NF
HK$'000
FHET
CTRNERRT I EERE
— ME  WEREEREBEK
LAY
470
— HNBRAREE 110,198

For the year ended 31 December2024 2 —Z W&+ _—_A=+—HItFE

FEERBZMHEREN

ABRRERFEEEDBRITARK
RipzgEads (A LBERE

AEBRBERRZEARAEDT

2023
—E=F
HK$'000
FET

1,945
113,346

RZEZWF+=ZA=+—H K&
CHEEMD
MEARAIURE —HEHB AR ZE
B9 Rl A& A EE 49470,0000% T (K
EWMMO%%%E¢EEE%E%

capital expenditure of exploration, production and distribution ) (ZZT =4 :1,945,0008 ¢ - &

of nature gas segment and capital contributions in a subsidiary

respectively.

R 41,001,000 7% 7T £ 7 B 75 Jh 5 [

) X% 110,198,000 L (=T =~ =4 :

113,346,000/& 7T) ©
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which
are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Save as those
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following material transactions with related
and connected parties which are not members of the Group:

33.

BEBALXS

AN A EE B R A R T B A T 2 S
NEIETZREENEEIRE R -
WRN AN IHE - RSV BEmEE
b EP A WEEE I - AL E B IEAREE K
BERNAIZEBNBEEALTAUNTEAR
5

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest to a shareholder ST —RIREMNFE 683 -
Loan interest to fellow subsidiaries YA FREF AR E R FIE 1,141 -
Salary to a shareholder (2023: ultimate YT —RBRRE (if T=F
holding shareholder) AT ) A9 FT 1,347 2,910
Other payables and accruals to a o fth FE R K aﬁm? BIRE
shareholder (2023: ultimate holding ZEZ=F  RRERRE)
shareholder) (4,423) (10,917)
Right-of-use assets related to a shareholder {§ F3 & ﬁ? AR —BRE
(2023: ultimate holding shareholder) (ZE - =F  EPERRR) - 1,486
Depreciation of right-of-use assets related A EENERN —BRE
to a shareholder (2023: ultimate holding (ZZT =4 : Z&IERAE)
shareholder) 1,472 2,571
Lease interest related to a shareholder HEMBBER —BRE
(2023: ultimate holding shareholder) TEZF  RRERRE) - 142
Key management personnel remuneration FTEEBAEMS
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, BTAEEFEZEERBABZHE (B

including amounts paid to the Company’s Directors as disclosed
in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

154
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34. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 34. FERER
RRIF K EE A ML THR A A, an effective 51% owned RNRABBEEREABS1%E 2 M B AT
subsidiary of the Company, has non-controlling interests (NCI). RHUBKEEAEEIARARESRE
BRI EE MM R ER QA A, an effective 26.01% owned g ((FFERER]) - ARFER
subsidiary of the Company, is a direct subsidiary of 2 3K = WA 26.01% w2 B AR A IHIK
EBREIARAT. EHRRBERARARNIGKE G AR
{EIERRARZEHEZENBRGE -
Summarised financial information in relation to the NCI of 72 %z EHRNIBKE SR B TERARE
B = 8 A Mt THBR A A, before intra-group eliminations, ERER MBEREE (Rt REE
is presented below: WIKEEAT) 25T -
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
For the year ended 31 December BE+t-A=+—HBLEE
Revenue W as 17,324 15,664
Loss for the year RNEFEERE (858) (877)
Total comprehensive loss >HEEBAE (1,220) (1,404)
Loss for the year allocated to NCI PERFFERERZ
FREE (634) (649)
For the year ended 31 December BZE+=-A=1+—HILEE
Net cash generated from/(used in) KETBME, (R BeF8
operating activities 344 (1,230)
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBFARSFE (130) (453)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BekFERREEM CRD)
cash equivalents FE 214 (1,683)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H
Current assets MEEE 5,518 4,041
Non-current assets ERBEE 11,176 14,564
Current liabilities MENEE (4,320) (5,011)
Net assets BEFE 12,374 13,594
Accumulated NCI R SRS 9,032 9,991
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  35.
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise

Cash available on demand FrE Rl AR
As at 31 December 2024, several bank accounts with
balances of approximately RMB26,837,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$28,179,000) have been frozen
("Frozen Balances”) due to a civil complaint during the
year ended 31 December 2024. Subsequent to the end
of the reporting period, the Frozen Balances had been
released.

HmERERERMT
() HEeRERABEEEHE
2024 2023
—EZMNEF —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
34,346 45,203

RZEBE-_NWF+-_A=+—8"
ETROTEPHBHAREK
26,837,000 7T (%5 {628,179,000 %
TC) BORE ([HURERE ) AR E
HIE-Z-_WOMF+=-A=+—H
IHFFEHEEE—FRREERF -
EREHRE  HRERPEH

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) EXEERETEZEEES
activities
The following table shows the Group's changes in TRETFAREEREAMEE
liabilities arising from financing activities during the year: HoBEZE:
Total liabilities
Amount due to Other Lease from financing
ashareholder  borrowings liabilities activities
BREEE
ER-ERR Hitfe & HESHE ZBaR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%—H—H 33,835 486,080 9,547 529,462
Changes in cash flows: ReREZEH:
Repayment of other borrowing HEMEEER - (116,630) - (116,630)
Interest paid BERFIE - (36,959) - (36,959)
Payment of lease liabilities HERRNR - - (1,865) (1,865)
- (153,589) (1,865) (155,454)
Non-cash changes FReEH
— Recognition of other payables ~HEREMENT - - (7,343) (7,343)
~ Modification of lease -HEBR - - 71 (71)
— Recognition of lease liabilities -BRARERE - - 2,512 2,512
~ Interest charged —BHkRZHE - 36,959 554 37,513
— Exchange adjustments — [ 5% - (16,290) (258) (16,548)
- 20,669 (4,606) 16,063
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35. 8B REXK T »)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) EXERETH2EEES
activities (Continued) (#&)
Total liabilities
Amount due to Other Lease from financing
a shareholder borrowings liabilities activities
AREEE
Ef-ERR HitfEE HESE ZBaR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2023 and RZZZ=F+ZA
1 January 2024 =+—-Bk
“EMF-A-B L 33835 . 33160 3076 390,071
Changes in cash flows: RenEvEs:
Repayment to a shareholder BRT-ARRE (749) - - (749)
Repayment of other borrowing HibfEEER - (173,094) - (173,094)
Proceeds from other borrowings HitfEEEGHE - 89,999 - 89,999
Interest paid EARFE - (24,513) - (24,513)
Payment of lease liabilities HEERNR - - (802) (802)
(749) (107,608) (802) (109,159)
Non-cash changes FReED
~ Recognition of other payables — R E M E TR - (1,915) - (1,915)
— Recognition of other receivables — TR L fth JE IR (1,050) - - (1,050)
~ Modification of lease -HEBYN - - (2,812) (2,812)
— Recognition of lease liabilities -BRHERRE - - 2,086 2,086
~ Interest charged —BEMkZFIE 683 26,428 205 27,316
~ Exchange adjustments —EXRE - (8,257) (33) (8,290)
(367) 16,256 (554) 15,335
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZ-ME+=A
=t+-H 32,719 261,808 1,720 296,247
36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. AAE
At 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant RZBE_NF+_HA=+—0 K&
contingent liabilities (2023: Nil). TEARERFABEBE(ZE_=F:
;) o
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37.

158

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

- To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

- To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

- To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the
Group's risk management capability.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable
to owners of the Company only, comprising share capital and
reserves of HK$608,267,000 (2023: HK$475,267,000) and
HK$1,173,084,000 (2023: HK$1,246,598,000) respectively as
at 31 December 2024.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future capital
requirements of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and
projected profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities. The Group has not adopted any formal dividend
policy. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. For details
of cash flow forecast carried out by the Directors, please refer to
Note 3(b)(ii) “Going concern basis”.

China Energy Development Holdings Limited F Bl /RBI 2 IR R AR A B

37. EXERERE

AEBMEREAZBRR:

- REAEEERECE BEA
BB R E A B A A D B
EEYEIEE

- XRAREZBEMMER: R

- REEAUMBEASEZARE
BEET) -

RZFEZWF+—A=+—H K&
BEAEEEBRARARER AR
HEE ERREBREARE®ED A
£608,267,0008 T (Z & =4 :
475,267,000 7T) & 1,173,084,000 %
T(ZTE =% :1,246,598,000/87T) °

AEEEG N ESRS REREREARR
B NEREBEARBRRRO R -
BLBARBREREDBREE B AE
BMzRRESHFEREAREK - BHITR
BRANEN FARALLRSRE B
BERFAZRBARBERERS - &
SEY ERAEMNEXRBBER - RIB
BEEMHEEES  AREREEXTK
B BITHR - BRRD  ARBEITH
BEHEORBES  FHERBREEAR
B AMEFHETHRSARERANF
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. Bi#% E ke B 1

The Group has various financial assets and liabilities, such as
trade receivables, which arise directly from its operations. The
main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments in the
normal course of the Group’s business are foreign currency risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
The Directors review and agree on policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below:

(a) Foreign currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in foreign
currency exchange rates relates primarily to certain bank
balances and other receivables in currencies other than
the functional currency of the group entity to which the
balances relate. The currency giving rise to this risk is
primarily Hong Kong Dollar.

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a 3%
strengthen/weakening of the Hong Kong dollars against
Renminbi would have increased/decreased profit before
income tax by HK$24,000 (2023: HK$31,000). This
sensitivity analysis assumes that all other variables, in
particular interest rates, remain constant.

AEEEZReMEERBE WEH
XL EERELACESHRWFIA - £
AEE-REGBEPEAEESHT
BEAZTE2RBRRINERR - FIXE
Eﬁ 1;??“& /|L@§iﬂ &HXKf
RER -

NEE v BB /\%E%.:Jri‘J#/EEbLA ey
mBZ AR BRI - WERKEEHREE
LK%EM‘%%EEZ‘%ETW%% §$
eRT MAEEE SR KR 2 BE
HgamT

(a) e B

EM@@%A@IﬂzﬁiF@
SR RIF &R = B NS IE R
K &y 2 BB o $%!I%%E
XBYAEZTISEAR T ER
NEEERDEEEAINEE
FIME 2 & TIRTT 4 84 S H A JE MR
HIERE - -ELEBEHERRNEE
FEABTLe

RNRZT-_WE+-_A=+—H " K
NREMEET BT AARERAE,
B2E3% ' BB E A afge
# 0, R 24,000,%7z<_7:£
F 31,0008 7T) c ZBBRED
BEMEEMBEH (LHRFR)
HEE R o
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

160

(b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of financial liabilities will fluctuate because of
the changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises mainly from other
borrowings. The interest rates and terms of repayment
of interest-bearing borrowings are disclosed in Note 27.
Other borrowings in Note 27 at fixed interest rate are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Group has not used any derivative contracts to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. The Group has not
formulated a policy to manage the interest rate risk. The
policies to manage interest rate risk have been followed
by the Group are considered to be effective.

In 2024 and 2023, as the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets and liabilities, the Group’s
operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

China Energy Development Holdings Limited F Bl /RBI 2 IR R AR A B

KRR EER®)
(b) FIZ=E kR
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Except for
account receivables from sales of natural gas, loan
and interest receivables, and the other receivables and
deposits that were further explained in Notes 21 and 23
to the consolidated financial statements respectively, the
Group principal financial assets are the financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and bank balances placed
in financial institution and reputable banks separately.
Given their high credit standing, management does not
expect any credit risk exposure for those financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and bank balances.
For credit exposures to customers, Group management
has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. For credit
exposures associated with the refundable deposits and
loan receivables, Group management had assessed the
credit quality of the debtors, taking into account their
financial position, their business developments and other
factors. In addition, the Group ensures that the amount of
the loan is within the limit set by the Group.

Accounts receivables

The Group measures loss allowances for accounts
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit
losses. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based on
past due status is not further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases.

e B A R R R

“EHEFET_A=T—HLFE

38. I ARERE &)

(9]

FERR

E%H R A EEEE - K
DRIRERE B RER M 21 & 23
HzRBRARHEE ZRIR
Mo EWEREF B &E M E W
RERERSIN AEEZEES
MEERZRAFEBENABREZ
SREERDBGFTHRN & /EE
MEBRIFZHEBTZHEITHESRS -

ERZERTEGSEETR

EREEEHTERZEERAEE
Bit \BuRzoREERRTLE

HBEHEERR REERF 2
FERRIE  AEEERER
EREBRAEBEAEEHEE =
BRfrz BRPETHE - 2R H
ARERI e MNEREFREBZE
BEB AEELAREHBAZ
FiEMn EBEEREMEAR
BEFEEREZEEEZR - N
AEEBRERSHEARNLEE
s ERZ A e

FE W BR 5%

AEENBERZHMEHREEES
Bzt EREERR 2B
B-HRAKEEBREZEFEEER
RBRYEBRTAZEDBZE
BEAFERZER BENAY
MAFTEZBER BT BEARE
BAREFPECEIFE—FERD
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

Accounts receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and expected credit losses
for account and note receivables as at 31 December 2024

and 2023:

Sales of natural gas:

Current (not past due)

30-60 days past due

More than 60 days but within
1 year past due

More than 1 year past due

Loan and interest receivables:
More than 1 year past due

HERAR -
BUVER (R H8)
# 83 30-60 &
wEI60 KA £
BEIFR
BEI1F U

FEWE SRS
BEH1FALE

38. I AKRERE &)
() EERRE
JEW AR 26 (48)

TRES#EER-_Z-_NOFER=
To=FFTZA=t—BAKE
FEWER R R EEERG 2 EE R
S RTBHEEBBZER

Expected
loss rate
FEHEEER
(%)

(%)

0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

100.00%
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2024
—EWNEF

Gross
carrying Loss
amount allowance
RE#E EERE
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
53,988 -
58 -
59,055 -
3,150 -
37,100 37,100
153,351 37,100
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 38. B EMRERE®)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) () EERMK#E)
Accounts receivables (Continued) FEWBR 7% ()
2023
—E-=F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHR RSB R RHAE EEEE
(%) HK$'000 HK$'000
(%) FAT FET
Sales of natural gas: HERAR -
Current (not past due) BIER (kg ) 0.00% 49,650 -
Loan and other receivables: FEWE R FE
More than 1 year past due BHEAF AL 100.00% 37,100 37,100
86,750 37,100
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience TEHEEXTREBRE L FER
over the past 5 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect EELRTE UFELEEIEH
differences between economic conditions during the BoURBMEKEBRTHERABRA
period over which the historic data has been collected, ZEOEARR BRI RAE R
current conditions and the group’s view of economic R A EIWRIATE B R 2 &8 ik
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. M2EzEZRE -
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of FRNAEBAREKERRREER BB
loan and interest receivables during the year is as follows: BEERESHET -
2024 2023
—E-ME T =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHAET
Balance at 1 January R—A—RAZz#&&% 37,100 37,100
No movement during the year FARBEE - -
Balance at 31 December R+ZA=+—RAZ&#% 37,100 37,100
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

164

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the end of each reporting period, based on the

contractual undiscounted payment, is as follows:

At 31 December 2024
R-Z-MmF
t=A=t-H

Other payables and accruals

Lease liabilities

Due to a shareholder

Other borrowings

Other borrowings -
interest portion

Convertible notes

China Energy Development Holdings Limited R E

H e[ 58 R
E_‘_ 35’7
ﬁﬁﬁﬂ
B —BREFE
HinfgE
HinfsE -
FEE R
EEES

KRR ER &)
d) REBELERR
AEB v HRATHERBAI X

BHRBESCTFR  UHERHEAE
FRARSHE ARMNEEH

EEREZRDE

A FH=
TEE o

AEEZEBABERERERK
ERNAHRUBBRAR2BBAE

R
In the In the

Within second third to After

one year year fifth years five years Total
RE=

R—FR REZF nE REF# @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS’000
FET FET FET FET FET
109,620 - - - 109,620
842 842 21 - 1,895
32,719 - - - 32,719
261,808 - - - 261,808
8,803 - - - 8,803
- - - 232,790 232,790
413,792 842 21 232,790 647,635
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(e)

e B A R R R

“EHEFET_A=T—HLFE

38. M RARERE @
d) #"EBELREREE)

In the In the
Within second third to After
At 31 December 2023 one year year fifth years five years Total
R-E-ZF RE=Z
+-F=1+-H R—%R RE_F RE REF# Fehas
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FAET FET FET FET FET
Other payables and accruals HiEAFER
JEAH A 125,041 - - - 125,041
Lease liabilities HERE 2,305 907 - - 3212
Due 1o a shareholder EN—ZRERE 33,835 - - 33,835
Other borrowings Hitfg & 143,640 209,520 - - 353,160
Other borrowings — Hinfgg -
interest portion FEEH 25,365 7,663 - - 33,028
Convertible notes Qe ES: - - - 679,670 679,670
330,186 218,090 - 679,670 1,227,946
The Directors have carried out a detailed review of the EFCFAEHASEEREA W
cash flow forecast of the Group covering a period of not HERBE DR+ @ A B
less than twelve months from the end of the reporting WIS RETEAREEE R
period, and other measures taken by the management as HEMiEE (4R E B ®mz M
referred to in Notes 3(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial b)(ii)Frigil) + RAEXE E K
statements, and consider that the Group will have Tfﬁ ExREEES WJUENA
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations ZEME+TZA=+T—RH®BE
as and when they fall due for the twelve months from 31 TZEARNINEZ B EL -
December 2024.
Price risk (e) ERER
The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from REBEAZHEREBEITHF 2R
equity instruments classified as trading securities. All of $Iﬂﬁﬁ}z FZRARBIRESE
these investments are listed. cFIBEREREHN R W -
The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock REEBZ LTREREBE M

Exchange of Hong Kong. Decisions to buy and sell
trading securities are based on daily monitoring of the
performance of individual securities compared to that
of the Index and other industry indicators, as well as the
Group’s liquidity needs. The portfolio is diversified in terms
of industry distribution, in accordance with the limits set
by the Group.

EM-BEARBLEEESFZR
ENREGAERERZSFRIE S
FEEEEMITEEERAE ZLER
UERAEBZ REESTEEDL -
RERAREAEBRTEZREE
FITEIM LEZ T b A -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

166

(e) Price risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end of
reporting period for those trading securities. If equity price
had been 5% higher, the profit (2023: profit) for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would have been increased by
HK$739,000 (2023: increased by HK$1,363,000). Had the
relevant equity price been 5% lower, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit (2023: profit).

(f) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets:

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents)

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost

(g) Fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their respective

fair values.

China Energy Development Holdings Limited R E

MBERER @)
(e) EREME

NTEBEEHFNREREDT IR
RBEHRBRAEBRREABET -
M AER EFS5%  BEE—
TN+ A=+ —BLFE
ZHM(ZEZZF 5 F) EE
739,000 L (ZE = =4 : 4Z 1

1,363,000 7T) ° W B B AE
TES% Al &R (22 ==
FoHF) B EEEHERARY
& o
f) 2RI ESE
2024 2023
—E-OE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
SREE
BAFEEFABZREZ
EREE 14,776 27,251
WEEKAGTEZ
SHMEE(BER:2R
LRBR %) 164,330 117,373
cEAaE:
WEEKAFTEZ
TREE 451,330 634,564
(9) 2¥EE
REEMBERRARATRB 2 RE
lé%ﬂéﬁ&&iﬁﬁaaﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁ
HHEEXEZ AT EERS

BERBIBRIERAERAR
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The following
disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy
that categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

Level 1 inputs:

inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 2 inputs:

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers
out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 28 March
2025.

39.

40.

AV EEHE
ATBERTSSRE ZBRHERSY
EBFRSTHEAEERNA SRR
EHE 2Bl - T RBABERR
FEEER AT RENE  HEAR

SHEATBIEZ HERERARES A
= BB

E—R AEBARFEAHE
BWABE: BAEMSESZHERE
ELBEREZRE CR
RHE) -
ER FEAR —MZBE A
BARE: ZEAERABZEERS
A% Al B R 8 A B ©
E=H& BESRBEZTABE
BARE : BWARE-

$E@ZBZ%7%E’\%BZL§§Z${¢‘ME
AEEHRERR = EE RN T RS
)\iﬁqﬂ

HEREMBRE
BANBERN-Z-AFZA-TN

AESESHERIRET -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

TR EHER

At 31 December 2024 A=—Z—NF+=-H=+—H

Results

ES

Revenue

Profit/(loss) before income tax

Income tax (charge)/credit

Profit/(loss) for the year

Profit/(loss) attributable to
Non-controlling interests

Profit/(loss) attributable to
owners of the Company

Assets and liabilities

BEERAR

Total assets
Total liabilities

Non-controlling interests

Attributable to owners of the
Company

168

BETERATER/ (B1])
i (Fx),/#He
AEEEF,/ (B1R)

IFEAESRS
w7,/ (EE)

ZN/NSI 2PN/
wH(BR)

ZN/NSIE 2PN/

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“E-NE —FE-=fF —E--fF —T-—F =—ZE-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET
300,101 332,034 323,028 353,588 173,480
56,399 90,765 91,819 201,768 (19,093)
(29,689) (21,885) (8,856) (77,049) 4,397
26,710 63,880 82,963 124,719 (14,696)
634 649 302 944 (523)
27,344 69,529 83,265 123,775 (14,173)
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-ME —E-=F —T--F —T-—-F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
2,270,535 2,366,420 2,560,109 2,851,578 2,757,368
(480,152)  (634,564)  (833,491)  (1,072,594)  (1,145,999)
(9,032) (9,991) (11,105) (12,484) (11,187)
1,781,351 1,721,865  1,715513 1,766,500 1,600,182
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